# VITAMIN D AND CARDIOMETABOLIC RISK FACTORS IN CHILDREN

Geneviève Anahita Dion Master's thesis Public Health School of Medicine Faculty of Health Sciences University of Eastern Finland December 2018 UNIVERSITY OF EASTERN FINLAND, Faculty of Health Sciences Public Health DION, GENEVIÈVE A.: Vitamin D and cardiometabolic risk factors in children. Master's thesis 71 pages Instructors: Arja Erkkilä PhD, Sonja Soininen MD, PhD, Aino-Maija Eloranta PhD December 2018

Key words: Vitamin D, 25-hydroxyvitamin D, cardiometabolic risk, children, blood pressure, glucose metabolism, lipids, liver enzymes, body fat percentage, inflammation.

# VITAMIN D AND CARDIOMETABOLIC RISK FACTORS IN CHILDREN

Vitamin D deficiency has been traditionally linked with rickets and bone health. However, the discovery of the vitamin D receptor in almost all cells of the body led to a potentially wider role of the vitamin D. Vitamin D deficiency has been associated with metabolic syndrome (MetS) and cardiovascular diseases in observational studies. As cardiovascular diseases originate in childhood, it would be of major public health importance to prevent vitamin D deficiency in children.

The aim of the thesis was to study the association between serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D (25(OH)D) concentration and the components of the cardiometabolic risk (CMR) factors in children. A cross-sectional analysis was performed from the baseline data of the children participating in the Physical Activity and Nutrition in Children (PANIC) study. A total of 736 children aged 6-8 years who started the first grade in 2007-2009 were invited to participate in the study to have a representative population sample of the children from Kuopio. Of the invited children, 512 participated in the baseline examinations and serum 25(OH)D concentration was available for 447 subjects (214 girls, 233 boys).

Association of serum 25(OH)D with the CMR score, systolic blood pressure (SBP) and diastolic blood pressure (DBP), glucose metabolism, insulin resistance, serum lipids, liver enzymes, body fat percentage (%), waist circumference, body mass index (BMI) and high sensitivity C-reactive protein (hs-CRP) were tested by performing multiple linear regression analyses. Three different models were made. Model 1 was adjusted for age and sex. Model 2 was adjusted for age, sex, physical activity and Dietary Approach to Stop Hypertension (DASH) score. Model 3 used a stepwise regression model and a backward elimination method, which included serum 25(OH)D and confounding factors: age, sex, physical activity, body fat %, DASH score, ratio of unsaturated to saturated fat in diet, vitamin D intake, length of day, skin types, travel to sunny locations, parental education, pubertal status, race and use of sunscreen. Models 1 and 2 showed that a higher serum 25(OH)D concentration was associated with lower SBP, lower plasma concentration of total cholesterol (TC), low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C), high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C) and triglycerides (TG), and a higher plasma concentration of alanine aminotransferase (ALT). The same results remained in model 3 after adjustment for all confounders, at the exception of TG, which association became no more statistically significant. Also, having an hs-CRP value between 1.0 and 5.0 mg/l was associated with an increased serum 25(OH)D concentration, compared with having a hs-CRP value <1.0 mg/l.

Serum 25(OH)D concentration could have a protective role in some components of CMR, such as SBP, TC and LDL-C. However, it may also be associated with a higher level of hs-CRP and with a lower HDL-C. Randomized controlled trials should be performed to find a possible causal association for those findings.

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank my supervisors Dr. Arja Erkkilä, Dr. Sonja Soininen and Dr. Aino-Maija Eloranta for their patience and precious guidance throughout this process. I am thankful to Timo Lakka for allow me to use the data of the PANIC study and for trusting my idea of studying vitamin D among children. Thanks to the department of public health, especially Annika Männikkö, Paula Kontro, assistant professor Sohaib Khan, Dr. Tommi-Pekka Tuomainen and professor Jussi Kauhanen who gave the opportunity to study MPH programme and to finnish my thesis. A special thanks to Dr. Noël Barengo, who made biostatistics fun and easy to understand, so I could use his precious knowledge in the analysis of the data of the PANIC study.

The journey has been longer than expected, and not without obstacles, but I have learned a lot on myself and on the research world. I have now a deeper understanding and respect toward researchers who devote their career in order to make progresses in science and transfer their knowledge in order to achieve a better understanding of this world. In this thesis, I got a better understanding of the complexity of the physiology of vitamin D and its effect on health.

I would like to thank the children of the schools of Rovaniemi, which gave me the motivation to study vitamin D. I was working as a school doctor and was worried about the low level of vitamin D in some of the children. It driven me the need to know more about the health consequences of vitamin D deficiency and study the health implication of vitamin D deficiency among children living in Nordic locations, as the subject for my master thesis in Public Health. I wish that the information of this thesis would be useful in order to pursue further research about vitamin D deficiency and promote a better health among children.

I would like to thank my mother Diane, for her precious help and time, my friend Tarja, which was on my side from the beginning, and my friend James for his support and encouragements. I would finally like to thank my daughter Maria for her patience and understanding while I was studying and working, and also her grandmother Anneli, for her valuable help.

# ABBREVIATIONS

1,25(OH) <sub>2</sub> D	1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D <sub>2</sub> and/or D <sub>3</sub> (or) 1,25-
	dihydroxycholecalciferol D <sub>2</sub> and/or D <sub>3</sub> (or) calcitriol
25(OH)D	25-hydroxyvitamin D <sub>2</sub> and/or D <sub>3</sub> or 25-hydroxycholecalciferol D <sub>2</sub>
	and/or D <sub>3</sub> (or) calcifediol (or) calcidiol
ALT	alanine aminotransferase
AR	average requirements
BMI	body mass index
CMR	cardiometabolic risk
DASH	Dietary Approaches to Stop Hypertension
DBP	diastolic blood pressure
DHA	docosahexaenoic acid
EPA	eicosapentaenoic acid
FPG	fasting plasma glucose
GGT	gamma-glutamyl transpeptidase
HDL-C	high-density lipoprotein cholesterol
HOMA-IR	homeostatic model assessment of insulin resistance index
hs-CRP	high-sensitivity C-reactive protein
IQR	Interquantile Range
LDL-C	low-density lipoprotein cholesterol
MetS	metabolic syndrome
MUFA	monounsaturated fatty acids
n	number of subjects
PANIC	Physical Activity and Nutrition in Children
PUFA	polyunsaturated fatty acids
RI	recommended intake
SBP	systolic blood pressure
SD	standard deviation
SFA	saturated fatty acids
TC	total plasma cholesterol
TG	plasma triglyceride
Vitamin D <sub>2</sub>	ergocalciferol
Vitamin D <sub>3</sub>	cholecalciferol

# CONTENTS

1. INT	. INTRODUCTION				
2. LIT	ERATURE REVIEW	8			
2.1 Vi	tamin D: a demystification of its actions	8			
2.1.1	Evolutionary perspective	8			
2.1.2	From rickets recovery to vitamin D discovery	8			
2.1.3	Vitamin D: from photosynthesis to bone synthesis	9			
2.1.4	Dietary sources of vitamin D	11			
2.2 Ep	idemiology of vitamin D deficiency	11			
2.2.1	Definition	11			
2.2.2	Prevalence of vitamin D deficiency	12			
2.2.3	Determinants of vitamin D	13			
2.2.4	Vitamin D requirements	14			
2.3. V	itamin D and health	15			
2.3.1	Vitamin D: a role beyond traditional bone health	15			
2.3.2	Behind the scene: Vitamin D receptor	16			

2.4. Vitamin D, cardiovascular health and metabolic syndrome in children and adolescents

		16
2.4.1	Definition of metabolic syndrome	17
2.4.2	Vitamin D and the metabolic syndrome	18
2.4.3	Vitamin D and the cardiometabolic risk	18
2.4.4	Vitamin D and adiposity	19
2.4.5	Vitamin D and glucose metabolism	20
2.4.6	Vitamin D and lipids	21
2.4.7	Vitamin D and blood pressure	22
2.4.8	Vitamin D and liver enzymes	23
2.4.9	Vitamin D and inflammation	23

3. AIMS	24
4. METHODS	25
4.1 Study Design	25
4.2 Measurements	25
4.2.1 Biochemical assessments	25
4.2.2 Assessments of body composition	26
4.2.3 Assessment of blood pressure	26
4.2.4 Cardiometabolic risk score	26
4.2.5 Other factors affecting serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D concentration	ion 27
4.3 Statistical analysis	30
5. RESULTS	32
5.1 Characteristics of the study population	32
5.2.1 Association between 25-hydroxyvitamin D status and cardiometa	abolic risk 38
6. DISCUSSION	41
6.1 Main findings	41
6.2 Serum 25(OH) D and cardiometabolic risk	41
6.2.1 Vitamin D and visceral adiposity	42
6.2.2 Vitamin D and glucose metabolism	43
6.2.3 Vitamin D and lipids	44
6.2.4 Vitamin D and blood pressure	46
6.2.5 Vitamin D and liver enzymes and markers of inflammation	47
6.3 Limitations, strengths and further directions	49
6.3.1 Limitations of the study	49
6.3.2 Strengths of the study	50
6.3.3 Further directions	50
7. CONCLUSION	52
8. REFEFENCES	53

# 1. INTRODUCTION

Vitamin D is a hormone precursor synthetized in the skin under the action of the sun. The main action of the active form of vitamin D, calcitriol or 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D (1,25 (OH)<sub>2</sub>D), is to maintain a normal serum level of calcium, in order to keep normal functioning of cells (Holick 2002). Vitamin D is essential for bone health and growth. Vitamin D deficiency leads to rickets in children, osteomalacia in teenagers and young adults, and to osteopenia and osteoporosis in the elderly (Welch 2000). The discovery of the vitamin D receptor in almost all tissues of the human body lead to the hypothesis that vitamin D has a wider effect than traditional bone health and calcium homeostasis. Vitamin D receptor has been found in immune, vascular and myocardial cells, pancreatic beta cells, neurons and osteoblasts, suggesting that vitamin D may have a role in the functions of those tissues, including functions related to cardiometabolic health (Prasad & Kochhar 2016).

Populations living at Northern latitudes are at higher risk of having vitamin D deficiency (Gupta et al. 2012) and hypertension (Rostang et al. 1997). Interestingly, vitamin D deficiency has been associated with chronic diseases in adults, including diabetes and metabolic syndrome (MetS) (Hoffmann et al. 2015). However, reviews on vitamin D and cardiovascular health in generally healthy adults and in children could not draw clear conclusions, due to the lack of data from randomized controlled trials (Pittas et al. 2010).

Cardiovascular diseases (CVD) originate already from childhood (Berenson et al. 1998, Raitakari et al. 2003), and the presence of MetS in childhood increases the likelihood of developing CVD in adulthood (Morisson et al.2007). In children, a review of cross-sectional trials found inconsistent findings regarding vitamin D deficiency and cardiometabolic risk (CMR). However, few randomized controlled trial and fairly few cross-sectional studies have been made in children in order to assess the association between serum serum 25hydroxyvitamin D (25(OH)D) or vitamin D deficiency and CMR. (Dolinsky et al. 2012) Therefore, there is need for more investigations including cross-sectional studies and randomized controlled trials in order to assess that issue. This would be of a major public health interest, since vitamin D deficiency is highly prevalent worldwide, in all age groups (Palacios et al. 2014).

# 2. LITERATURE REVIEW

# 2.1 Vitamin D: a demystification of its actions

# 2.1.1 Evolutionary perspective

Vitamin D has been produced by phytoplankton and zooplankton for more than 500 million years, as a basic protection mechanism against excessive solar ultraviolet B radiation. Fishes and other sea organisms depend on phytoplankton and zooplankton for their survival. Therefore, the ingested vitamin D accumulates in the fat of oily fishes. When evolution allowed species to survive in a non-sea environment, vitamin D developed a predominant role in bone and calcium homeostasis. Animals, most plants and mushrooms also have the capacity to produce vitamin D from sunlight (Holick 2003).

Humans has the capacity to synthetize vitamin D in skin. The 7-dehydrocholesterol also called provitamin  $D_3$  is stored in the skin and competes with the pigmentation of melanin for ultraviolet B light. Our ancestors, living in Africa, had naturally darker skin with high melanin content, acting as a natural sunscreen. When civilizations started to migrate toward the poles, the skin became gradually lighter, because of the evolutionary process. One possible explanation is that light-skinned women were less likely to develop nutritional rickets, therefore less likely to have pelvic malformations due to rickets, and more likely to give birth without complications (Holick 2007a, Holick 2011a).

# 2.1.2 From rickets recovery to vitamin D discovery

A disease of bone malformation affecting children was already described in 100-200 AD, but it is only by the middle of the 17<sup>th</sup> century that rickets was identified as a proper disease, affecting children of the cities of England (Rajakumar et al. 2003). During the industrial revolution (1760-1840), populations migrated toward cities. As a consequence, rickets became more prevalent among children, due to a shift to a more sedentary life and to limited access to sunlight. In 1898, 80% of infants under the age of 2 years had rickets. In 1923, Eliot showed that cod liver oil and regular sun bathing during the first year of age could prevent rickets. The "X-factor" healing rickets was called vitamin D. This finding led to the common utilization of cod liver oil, and, as a result, rickets was almost eradicated (Welch 2000). In 1924, Steenbock & Black, as well as Hess & Winstock, found that the irradiation of food had an antirachitic activity on rats, and this led to the common use of irradiated milk and cereals (Rajakumar et al. 2003). It was only in 1932 that vitamin  $D_2$  (ergocalciferol) was isolated from an irradiation mixture of ergosterol. In 1935, Windaus isolated 7-DHC, and, in 1937, Windaus & Bauck identified Vitamin  $D_3$  (cholecalciferol) (DeLuca 2014). The vitamin D receptor was discovered in 1974 in the intestinal cells of vitamin D-deficient chickens (Brumbaugh & Haussler 1974). Since then, vitamin D receptor was discovered in almost all tissues of the human body, including osteoblasts, pancreatic beta-islets cells, nerve cells, brain, colon tissue, small intestine, heart, skin including immature keratinocytes, hair follicles, gonads, breast, prostate, adrenal medulla, immune cells including activated T and B lymphocytes, mononuclear cells and lymphoid granulomata (Zehnder et al. 2001, Holick 2003, Holick 2007a, Misra et al. 2008, Bikle et al. 2015).

Also, 25-hydroxyvitamin D-1 alfa hydroxylase, the enzyme converting 25(OH)D into its active form, was found in other tissues of the body, including prostate (Swartz et al. 1998), colon (Cross et al. 2001), breast, immune system, alveolar and activated macrophages, lymph nodes, placenta, osteoblasts and keratinocytes (Misra et al. 2008). Therefore, 1,25 (OH)<sub>2</sub>D has not only endocrine, but also autocrine and paracrine properties (McCullough et al. 2009, Morris &Anderson 2010, Carlberg & Molnár 2015). Interestingly, cells also have the machinery to produce the enzyme 25-hydroxyvitamin D-24-hydroxylase, which degrades 1,25 (OH)<sub>2</sub>D locally (McCullough ML et al. 2009). In late 1970, there was a reemergence of rickets in children in the industrialized world, which could be due to the promotion of long-term breastfeeding (Welch 2000).

# 2.1.3 Vitamin D: from photosynthesis to bone synthesis

Vitamin D<sub>3</sub> is synthesized in the skin, under the action of sunlight. Ultraviolet B light of wavelength 290-315 nm breaks down the solid cholesterol ring of 7-DHC, becoming a secosteroid called previtamin D<sub>3</sub>. Previtamin D<sub>3</sub> is then rapidly converted into vitamin D<sub>3</sub>, through a heat-dependant process (Holick 2007b). The conversion of provitamin D<sub>3</sub> into previtamin D<sub>3</sub> is more efficient during initial sun exposure. It takes about 8 hours to convert 7-DHC into vitamin D<sub>3</sub> (Wacker & Holick 2013). Continued exposure to sunlight causes the isomerization of previtamin D<sub>3</sub> into its inactive metabolite lumisterol. For that reason, sun exposure cannot cause vitamin D<sub>3</sub> is transported through the blood stream into the liver, where it undergoes a process of hydroxylation at its 25<sup>th</sup> position by the vitamin D 25-hydroxylase. The end-product is 25(OH)D<sub>3</sub>, which is biologically inactive.

Vitamin  $D_2$  and vitamin  $D_3$  can also be ingested through diet. Dietary intake of vitamin  $D_2$  and  $D_3$  are incorporated into chylomicrons, and transported by lymph, which drains into the venous system. After reaching the liver, vitamin  $D_2$  and  $D_3$  undergo the same hydroxylation process as the vitamin  $D_3$  produced in the skin, therefore becoming 25(OH) $D_2$  and 25(OH) $D_3$ .

The molecule 25(OH)D, also called calcidiol or calcifediol, is then transported in the blood stream until it reaches the kidney, its main target organ. In the kidney, 25(OH)D undergoes a second hydroxylation at its first position by the enzyme 25-hydroxyvitamin D- 1-alfa-hydroxylase. The end-product is 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D, also called calcitriol, which is the active form of vitamin D. 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D is finally catabolized in the liver by the 25-hydroxyvitamin D 24-hydroxylase into its water-soluble inactive form called calcitronic acid, which is then excreted in the bile (Holick 2007a). 24-OHase is part of the cytochrome CYP24A1 in P450 (Jones et al. 2012). 25(OH)D is a highly liposoluble compound, which is stored in fat tissue (Rosenstreich et al. 1971), and then released from fat tissues (Ziaie et al. 2016).

The 1,25 (OH)<sub>2</sub>D has an important role in maintaining the serum level of calcium constant (Holick et al. 2007b). Indeed, a normal serum level of phosphate and calcium are essential to promote normal calcification of bones (Holick et al. 2007b, Matikainen 2014). In case of hypocalcemia, parathyroid hormone is secreted by the parathyroid gland, which activates 25-hydroxvitamin D-1 alfa hydroxylase, which then enhances the production of 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D in the kidney. 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D increases the absorption of calcium from the small intestine, reestablishing a normal serum concentration of calcium. The 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D connects with the vitamin D receptor in the osteoblasts, inducing the maturation of preosteoclasts into osteoclasts, and causing the release of calcium and phosphate in the blood stream through bone resorption. The 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D also enhances the calcium reabsorption from the renal tubule. The parathyroid hormone also has a direct stimulating effect on bone resorption (Holick et al. 2007b). The parathyroid hormone is down-regulated by the serum concentration of calcium and phosphate, the fibroblast growth factor 23 and the parathyroid hormone (Holick et al. 2007b).

# 2.1.4 Dietary and supplemental sources of vitamin D

Vitamin  $D_3$  is found in fatty fish, like sardines, salmon, mackerel, tuna and in caviar, egg yolks, vitamin D fortified dairy products like milk and margarines. Vitamin  $D_2$  is found in certain kinds of mushroom. Vitamin  $D_2$  and  $D_3$  are also available in the form of supplements (Lamberg-Allardt et al. 2013, Nordic Nutritional recommendations 2012). In Finland, most vitamin D fortified foods contains vitamin  $D_3$ , and most of the vitamin D supplements contains vitamin  $D_3$ . Vitamin  $D_2$  and  $D_3$  are both efficiently absorbed by the intestinal wall, but vitamin  $D_3$  raises the serum 25(OH)D concentration to a higher level and for a longer time (28 d versus 3 d) than vitamin  $D_2$  (Armas et al. 2004). Excessive intake of vitamin D from supplements may cause vitamin D intoxication and hypercalcemia (Netter 1987, Taylor & Davies 2018).

# 2.2. Epidemiology of vitamin D deficiency 2.2.1 Definition

Vitamin D deficiency refers to a low serum level of 25(OH)D, which may be accompanied by impaired bone mineralization. Until 2016, there was no international consensus about the cutoff point of vitamin D deficiency and sufficiency for children. The recent Nordic Nutrition recommendations 2012 (2014) recommended a cut-off point of 30 nmol/l for vitamin D deficiency and 50 nmol/l for vitamin D sufficiency and the American Academy of Pediatrics defined vitamin D sufficiency as a serum 25(OH)D concentration > 50 nmol/l (Wagner et al. 2008) (Table 1). Braegger et al. (2013) suggested using a cut-off point of 25 nmol/l for severe vitamin D deficiency among European children (not in table).

Most recently, international experts in pediatric endocrinology, nutrition and public health from 10 pediatric societies published Global Consensus Recommendations on Prevention and Management of Nutritional Rickets (Munns et al. 2016), setting vitamin D deficiency as < 30nmol/l, insufficiency as 30-50 nmol/l, and sufficiency as > 50 nmol/l for infants, children and adolescents. The Institute of Medicine (2011) suggested that serum level of 25(OH)D above 125 nmol/l may have adverse effects on health. More recently the Global Consensus Recommendation 2016 assessed vitamin D toxicity as a level of 25(OH)D > 250 nmol/l (Munns et al. 2016).

Vitamin D				25(OH)D <sup>1</sup> concentration for		
status				chile	dren and adults	
	American Academy of Pediatrics 2008 <sup>2</sup>	Nordic Nutrition Recomme ndations 2012	Global Consensus Recommendations on Prevention and Management of Nutritional Rickets 2016 <sup>3</sup>	Institute of Medicine 2011	Endocrine society 2011 <sup>4</sup>	
Deficiency	ns	<30	<30	<30.0	<50	
Insufficiency	ns	30-50	30-50	30-50	52.5-72.5	
Sufficiency	>50	>50	>50	>50	>75.0	
Excess	ns	Ns	Ns	>125	Ns	
Toxicity	ns	Ns	>250	ns	Ns	

 Table 1 Vitamin D status in relation to serum 25(OH)D concentration in nmol/l in children and adolescents

ns, not specified by the authors <sup>1</sup>25-hydroxyvitamin D in nmol/l, <sup>2</sup>Wagner et al. 2008, <sup>3</sup>Munns et al. 2016, <sup>4</sup>Holick et al. 2011b.

# 2.2.2 Prevalence of vitamin D deficiency

Vitamin D deficiency is highly prevalent worldwide (Palacios et al. 2014). A possible reason could be a shift toward a sedentary lifestyle, for instance due to a lack of time spent outside (Musson & Collin 2015).

The cut-off point for vitamin D deficiency and insufficiency differed between studies. A total of 25 % of Brazilian adolescents had a serum 25(OH)D concentration below 25 nmol/l (Oliveira et al. 2013), and 43% of Canadian Cree had serum 25(OH)D concentration below 30 nmol/L (Riverin et al. 2014). Serum 25(OH)D concentration below 50 nmol/l was found in 29% of English children (Tolppanen et al. 2012), 43% of children in Boston (Gordon et al. 2004), 75 % of Korean adolescents (Nam et al. 2012), 80% of South Arabian boys and 90% of South Arabian girls (Al-Daghri et al. 2015), 98% of Turkish children (Andiran et al. 2012) and 83.7% of obese Dutch children (Radhakishun et al. 2015). In one study, 43 % of Finnish girls had a serum 25(OH)D below 40 nmol/l, and as much of 32 % of Finnish girls had a serum 25(OH)D concentration below 25 nmol/l (Cheng et al. 2003). Published data from the same study population as this thesis of children 6-8 years of age participating in the Physical

Activity and Nutrition in Children (PANIC) study, showed that the prevalence of serum 25(OH)D concentration below 50 nmol/l was 19.5% (Soininen et al. 2016).

# 2.2.3 Determinants of vitamin D status

Factors associated with a higher prevalence of vitamin D deficiency are a lack of sun exposure, northern latitude, winter season or shorter length of day (Holick 2003, Holick & Chen 2008, Rajakumar et al. 2011, Holick et al. 2011b, Tolppanen et al. 2012). In Helsinki (60<sup>0</sup> N), there is no skin production of vitamin D between mid-October and mid-March (Lamberg-Allardt et al. 2013).

Other factors that impair vitamin D synthesis in the skin are a sedentary life and a lack of time spent outside (Tolppanen et al. 2012), the use of a veil (Holick & Chen 2008), the use of sunscreen (Holick et al. 2011b, Tolppanen et al. 2012), and a higher amount of melanin in the skin, which acts as a natural sunscreen (Gordon et al. 2004, Holick and Chen 2008, Holick et al. 2011b, Rajakumar et al. 2011, Tolppanen et al. 2012, Whiting et al. 2011). For instance, dark skinned individuals require 5-10 times more exposure to the sun in order to produce the same amount of vitamin D as light skinned individual (Holick et al. 2007b).

Lower dietary intake of vitamin D has been associated with lower serum concentration of 25(OH)D (Tolppanen et al. 2012, Soininen et al. 2016). Medical conditions that cause malabsorption of vitamins and nutrients, and other drugs affecting the absorption and liver metabolism of vitamin D (rifampicin, glucocorticoids and anticonvulsants), as well as liver diseases, also cause a decreased serum level of 25(OH)D (Holick & Chen 2008). 25(OH)D is stored in the fat. Obesity, higher body mass index (BMI) and higher visceral fat % are linked with a poorer vitamin D status (Rajakumar et al. 2011, Gupta et al. 2012, Tolppanen et al. 2012).

Socio-economic factors such as lower maternal education and household income also predict a poorer vitamin D status (Tolppanen et al. 2012). Older age, a more advanced pubertal stage and female sex are also associated with a lower level of serum (25(OH)D concentration (Holick & Chen 2008, Holick et al. 2011b, Tolppanen et al. 2012, Rajakumar et al. 2011). A previously published paper from the same study population as this thesis, showed that older age was associated with lower 25(OH)D in girls, but not in boys (Soininen et al. 2016). Also, in that same paper, a higher parental education was associated with higher 25(OH)D in boys, but it was explained by other factors.

# 2.2.4 Vitamin D requirements

There have been discrepancies in opinions from experts regarding the adequate intake of vitamin D in order to prevent vitamin D deficiency (Holick 2002, Heaney et al. 2003, Viljakainen et al. 2006, Harel et al. 2011, Garland et al. 2014). According to the recent Nordic Nutrition Recommendation panel 2012 (2014), a total daily intake of vitamin D of 10  $\mu$ g would provide vitamin D sufficiency (>50 nmol/l to 95% of the population of children and adults) (Table 2). The Nordic recommendation for total daily intake of vitamin D has increased from 7.5  $\mu$ g/d to 10  $\mu$ g/d in 2014 (Nordic Nutrition Recommendations 2012 (2014)).

**Table 2** Vitamin D recommendations from diet and supplement in Finland. From the Nordic Nutrition Recommendations 2012 (2014) and the National Nutrition Council 2014 (Valtion ravitsemusneuvottelukunta 2014).

		Vitamin I	D intake in µg	g/d		
	infants	younger	older	younger	older	Elderly
	(0-12	children	children	adults	adults	(≥75 y)
	months)	(2-10 y)	(11-17 y)	(18-60	(61-74	
				y)	y)	
AR, <sup>1</sup>	Ns	7.5	7.5	7.5	7.5	7.5
RI from diet and	10	10	10	10	(10) <sup>3</sup>	20
supplements <sup>1</sup>					(20) 4	
RI from supplements	10	7.5	7.5	(10) <sup>5</sup>	(10) <sup>5</sup>	20
(Valtion						
ravitsemusneuvottelukunta						
2014)						
Lower Intake <sup>1</sup>	Ns	ns	Ns	ns	2.5	2.5
Upper Intake <sup>1</sup>	25	(50) <sup>2</sup>	100	100	100	100

AR, average requirements (vitamin D intake in order to achieve vitamin D sufficiency among 50% of the population); RI, recommended intake of vitamin D, in order to achieve vitamin D sufficiency among 95% of the population; y, year(s) <sup>1</sup> daily intake from diet and supplements, <sup>2</sup>1-10 y <sup>3</sup> if sufficient sun exposure, <sup>4</sup>if little or no sun exposure. <sup>5</sup>if no daily consummation of dairy products or margarines supplemented with vitamin D between October and March, or/and if not sufficient consummation of fish between October and March.

A sufficient supplementation of vitamin D during childhood and adolescence promotes bone mineralization and prevents growth retardation (Holick 2011a). In adults and elderly, vitamin D sufficiency promotes a better absorption of calcium (Heaney et al. 2003). Vitamin D sufficiency has also been associated with a better bone and muscle health, and with prevention of falls and fractures (Bishoff-Ferrari et al. 2006).

Carlberg (2016) suggested that some individuals need a higher serum concentration of 25(OH)D in order to achieve an optimal health effect. The personal range for optimal vitamin D status may vary between individuals and depends on genetics and epigenetics factors (Carlberg et al. 2016).

# 2.3 Vitamin D and health

# **2.3.1 Vitamin D: a role beyond traditional bone health**

Vitamin D deficiency has a well-established role to play in bone diseases: rickets and osteomalacia in children (Misra et al. 2008), and osteoporosis in the elderly (Holick 2007a). Serum concentration of 25(OH)D also has been associated with other health conditions. For instance, vitamin D sufficiency has been linked with a better pregnancy outcome and improved health of the developing infant (Holick 2011a). A pioneering Finnish study on health effects of vitamin D supplementation by Hyppönen et al. (2001) found that giving 50  $\mu$ g/d of vitamin D to 10366 children during their first year of life reduced their risk of developing type 1 diabetes by 80% in the following 30 years. Vitamin D supplementation in children has been found to reduce the risk of developing asthma and wheezing disorders, as well as contracting upper respiratory tract infections caused by influenza and other infectious agents (Holick 2011a).

In adults, studies found that a higher serum level of 25(OH)D has been associated with a decreased all-cause mortality (Bjelakovic 2014, Garland et al. 2014, Lamberg-Allardt et al. 2013, Thomas et al. 2012, Virtanen et al. 2011), as well as a decreased risk of developing autoimmune diseases (Hyppönen 2001, Holick et al. 2011b), type II diabetes (Holick et al. 2011b), CVD (Wang et al. 2008, 2013, Parker et al. 2010, Holick et al. 2011b, Birken et al. 2015, Rai & Agrawal 2017), hypertension (Pils et al. 2009, Pittas et al. 2010, Jeong et al. 2017), dyslipidemia (Jorde & Grimnes 2011), MetS (Wang et al. 2013), colorectal cancer (Bishoff-Ferrari et al. 2006), cognitive dysfunctions and infectious diseases (Holick et al.

2011b). Vitamin D supplementation may improve fasting plasma glucose (FPG) level, insulin sensitivity and heart rate among pre-diabetic adults (Saksa et al. 2015).

Vitamin D is a regulator of the immune system (Cantorna & Mahon 2005), inhibits the inflammatory response and inducts antimicrobial mechanisms (Gupta et al. 2012). It also acts as a natural antimycobacterial agent (Gombard 2009). The 1,25(OH)D regulates cellular growth, and it has been suggested that the intracrine production of 1,25(OH) in the cells may have an activity against cancer (Holick 2003).

# 2.3.2 Behind the scene: Vitamin D receptor

The potential health effects of vitamin D might be explained by their effects on the genome. The vitamin D receptor is pleiotropic, meaning that it influences many different genes in many different cells of the body (Carlberg & Molnár 2015). The vitamin D receptor has been found to directly or indirectly regulate 100-1250 different genes and 0.5-5% of the total human genome (McCullough et al. 2009, Ramagopalan et al. 2010, Hossein-Nezhad et al. 2013, Carlberg 2014a, Carlberg & Molnár 2015). Vitamin D receptor has a role in the regulation of cell proliferation, differentiation, apoptosis, modulation of growth and inflammatory factor, immunomodulation, and may have a role in DNA repair, angiogenesis, cell adhesion, bile acid and xenobiotic metabolism as well as protecting from oxidative stress (McCullough et al. 2009). This opens interesting avenues for possible therapeutic effects of vitamin D in the treatment of certain diseases (Carlberg 2014b, Bikle et al. 2015), like cancer (Misra et al. 2008).

# 2.4 Vitamin D, cardiovascular health and metabolic syndrome in children and adolescents

In 2000, it was estimated that more than 2 million US adolescents have the MetS (Duncan et al. 2004). Since 1970, the prevalence of childhood obesity and MetS has increased (Rokholm et al. 2010). Cardiovascular diseases originate in childhood (Berenson et al. 1998, Raitakari et al. 2003). Autopsies made on 2876 young adults aged 15-34 years who died from external causes between 1987 and 1994, showed that intimal lesions already appeared in aortas and right coronary arteries of the youngest age group (15-19 years old) (Strong et al. 1999). Raitakari et al. 2003, found a positive association between systolic blood pressure (SBP), low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C), BMI and smoking in childhood and common carotid artery intima-media thickness 21 years later. Having the MetS in childhood increases

the risk of developing cardiovascular diseases by 14 times (CI 95% 4.8-45.3) in adulthood, compared with subjects, who did not have the MetS as a child (Morisson et al. 2007). Vitamin D sufficiency during childhood has been suggested to promote cardiovascular health later in life (Birken et al. 2015). The most recent review on children stated that a poorer vitamin D status was possibly associated with hypertension and cardiovascular diseases (Xu et al. 2017).

# 2.4.1 Definition of metabolic syndrome

The MetS is defined, in children over 10 years and in adults, as an increased waist circumference, and at least 2 of the following criteria: elevated plasma triglyceride level (TG), low high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C), elevated blood pressure, and increased FPG. Reference values for children aged 10-15.9 years are age-specific. The diagnosis of MetS cannot be made for children younger than 10 years, but special attention should be given to young children having an increased waist circumference and with familial history of CVD, diabetes, dyslipidemia and MetS (Alberti et al. 2006a, 2006b).

,	(		/
Criteria	For children	For children aged	For children $\geq 16$ y and adults <sup>2</sup>
	$< 10 y^{1}$	$\geq 10$ and $< 16 \text{ y}^2$	
Increased waist	$\geq$ 90 <sup>th</sup> of age-	≥90th percentile for	Increased waist circumference
circumference	specific waist	age or adult cut-off	(population specific) or BMI $\geq$
	circumference	point <sup>3</sup>	$30 \text{kg/m}^2$
High TG		≥1.7 mmol/l (≥150	TGs $\geq$ 150mg/dl (1.7 mmol/l) or use
		mg/dl)	of TG-lowering medication.
Low HDL-C		<1.03 mmol/l (<40	HDL-C <40mg/dl (1.03 mmol/l) in
		mg/dl)	men or $<50$ mg/dl (1.29 mmol/l) in
			women or use of HDL-C increasing
			medication.
High blood		Systolic ≥130/	SBP $\geq$ 130mmHg or DBP $\geq$ 85mmHg
pressure		diastolic ≥85 mm	or use of medication for high blood
		Hg	pressure.
Impaired fasting		$\geq$ 5.6 mmol/l (100	Impaired fasting glucose $\geq 5.6 \text{ mmol/l}$
glucose		mg/dl)	(100mg/dl) or diabetes.

**Table 3** International Diabetes Federation consensus worldwide definition of the MetS in children, adolescents and adults (Alberti et al. 2006a, 2006b).

DBP, diastolic blood pressure; MetS metabolic syndrome, TG, triglycerides, HDL-C, high-density lipoprotein cholesterol, BMI, body mass index, SBP systolic blood pressure; y, year(s) <sup>1</sup> MetS cannot be diagnosed. <sup>2</sup> For diagnostic of MetS in individuals  $\geq$ 10 y, abdominal obesity and the presence of two or more other clinical

features are required. <sup>3</sup>If the measurement of waist circumference is above the adult cut-off point, it can be used as diagnostic criteria for abdominal obesity in children aged 10-16 years.

# 2.4.2 Vitamin D and the metabolic syndrome

Some cross-sectional studies among children and adolescents showed that vitamin D deficiency was positively associated with MetS among adolescents (Reis et al. 2009) and was associated with an increased SBP and BMI and decreased HDL-C among obese children and adolescents of 7-18 years old living in New York (Smotkin-Tangorra et al. 2007). Vitamin D deficiency was also associated with an increased FPG in children of 9-16 years (Delvin et al. 2010) and increased insulin resistance in white adolescents (Ashraf et al. 2011). However, an extensive systematic review made on children and adolescents, including mostly crosssectional studies, concluded that evidence was insufficient to conclude that vitamin D supplementation would bring any cardiometabolic benefits (Dolinsky et al. 2012). There is, indeed, a need for large randomized-controlled trial to determine the health effect of vitamin D among children and adults (Wang et al. 2013).

Many studies found, that for a lower serum level of vitamin D, there was a higher prevalence of having MetS, in children (Pacifico et al. 2011, Lee et al. 2012) and adolescents (Reis et al. 2009, Gangi et al. 2011, Nam et al. 2012). Lee et al. (2012) showed that 9 year-old vitamin D deficient children (<38.5 nmol/l) had a 4.5 times increased risk (OR 4.25, 95% CI 1.84-9.85) of having MetS than vitamin D sufficient children (> 54 nmol/l). In children, lower vitamin D level was associated with a higher BMI, waist circumference and TG, a lower level of HDL-C (Reis et al 2009, Lee et al 2012), as well as a higher SBP and FPG (Reis et al 2009). Other studies did not find an association between vitamin D and MetS (Delvin et al. 2010, Cabral et al. 2016).

# 2.4.3. Vitamin D and the cardiometabolic risk

In many studies on children, a CMR score is used in the analyses, instead of the MetS. Crosssectional studies among children and adolescents have displayed divergent results concerning the association of serum 25(OH)D concentration and the CMR score. A cross-sectional analysis of a large prospective birth cohort study of lean and physically active rural children living in South India found no statistically significant association between serum 25(OH)D concentration and CMR after adjusting for age, lifestyle, body fat % and season (Baker et al. 2015). However, high physical activity level (in average 186 min/d) and low BMI were suggested to be protective factors in that study. A cross-sectional study on 114 obese and non-obese Turkish children and adolescents, found that adiponectin and low serum 25(OH)D concentration were strongly associated with the CMR factors: decreased HDL-C and increased LDL-C, total plasma cholesterol (TC), TG, FPG, homeostatic model assessment of insulin resistance index (HOMA-IR), SBP, diastolic blood pressure (DBP) and BMI (Kardas et al 2013). However, another cross-sectional study among Turkish adolescents did not find an association between the serum 25(OH)D concentration and CMR score (Aypak et al 2014). A cross-sectional study of Portuguese living in Azorean Islands (36.5°-43°N) indicated that teenagers having a higher dietary intake of vitamin D had a lower population-specific CMR score. No study subject was taking vitamin D supplements, and total sun exposure was not measured (Moreira et al. 2014).

In a triple-masked controlled trial among 50 vitamin D deficient Iranian adolescents aged 10-16 years, the intervention group, which received 300 000 IU (7500  $\mu$ g) of vitamin D per week for 12 weeks, raised its serum 25(OH)D concentration from 45.6 +/- 5.1 nmol/l to 79.9 +/- 5.3 nmol/l and showed a significant improvement of fasting insulin, HOMA-IR, TG and also an improvement of the continuous metabolic score, compared with the baseline and the placebo group (Kelishadi et al. 2014b).

Results for the pediatric population have been inconsistent in finding an association between serum 25(OH)D concentration and the MetS or/and CMR score. However, some studies did not adjust for important confounders including physical activity, season and puberty, which make the results difficult to compare.

#### 2.4.4 Vitamin D and adiposity

Numerous studies have found a negative association between serum 25(OH)D concentration and BMI, obesity, waist circumference or total fat mass and visceral adipose tissue in both children and adolescents in different countries (Reis et al. 2009, Ganji et al. 2011, Pacifico et al. 2011, Rajakumar et al. 2011, Andiran et al. 2012, Kouda et al. 2013, Lee et al. 2012, Nam et al. 2012, Kardas et al. 2013, Kao et al. 2015, Cediel et al. 2016). A plausible reason could be that vitamin D is stored in, and slowly released from fat tissues (Worstman et al. 2000).

Vitamin D deficiency and a lower vitamin D intake have been associated with obesity (Cabral et al. 2016), but cross-sectional studies cannot prove causality, nor the direction of the plausible association. These conditions may coexist together, and the observed association

may be caused by one or more unmeasured factor(s). However, there is some evidence that supplementation of vitamin D early in life may have beneficial effects on the body composition later in life. For instance, in a trial on vitamin D supplementation of  $10 \mu g/d$  versus  $30 \mu g/d$  during the first year of life, toddlers who achieved a serum 25(OH)D concentration above 75 nmol/l had a leaner body composition at 3-year-old than toddlers whose serum 25(OH)D concentration was below 75 nmol/l (Hazell et al. 2017).

# 2.4.5 Vitamin D and glucose metabolism

Children with suboptimal serum 25(OH)D concentration (<30 ng/ml, corresponding to < 75 nmol/l) had a 2-3 times higher risk of being obese, and a 3-4 times higher risk of insulin resistance (Cediel et al 2016). Aypak et al. (2014) found that the association between serum 25(OH)D concentration and insulin resistance was only found in obese pubertal subjects. The association between serum 25(OH)D concentration and insulin resistance might be mediated by body fat mass, as suggested by Alemzadeh et al. (2008).

Some cross-sectional and retrospective studies among children and adolescents have found that an inverse association between serum 25(OH)D concentration and glucose profile, also occurs after adjustment for adiposity (Alemzadeh et al. 2008, Johnson et al. 2010, Ashraf et al. 2011, Ford et al. 2011, Jang et al. 2013, Oliveira et al. 2013, Cediel et al. 2016). A cross-sectional study in adolescents found that for a higher serum 25(OH)D concentration, there was lower fasting insulin, after adjustment for BMI and physical activity (Ford et al.2011). Ashraf et al. (2011) found an inverse association between serum 25(OH)D concentration and FPG and insulin resistance in obese adolescents, after adjustment for BMI and race. Alemzadeh et al. (2008) found an inverse association between serum 25(OH)D and plasmatic glycohemoglobin in adolescents after adjustment for body fat mass. A Brazilian study on teenagers found an inverse correlation between serum 25(OH)D concentration, insulin and HOMA-IR, but did not adjust for puberty (Oliveira et al. 2013). On the other hand, some cross-sectional analysis did not find association between serum 25(OH)D concentration and measures of insulin resistance in 7-9-year-old children (Kwon et al. 2015), adolescents (Erdönmez et al. 2011), and physically active obese children (Poomthavorn et al. 2012).

Puberty is associated with a physiological reduction in insulin sensitivity, independent of adiposity (Hannon et al. 2006). Therefore, previously mentioned results on adolescents should be taken with caution, if no adjustment was made for puberty. Kelly et al. (2011)

found that for a higher serum 25(OH)D, there was a lower FPG, glycohemoglobin and fasting insulin among 4-18-year-old children, after adjusting for BMI and puberty.

Only a few intervention studies on vitamin D supplementation have been made among children and adolescents and most of them included a limited number of subjects. For instance, an intervention study on obese adolescent girls showed that the vitamin D deficient sub-group, who received vitamin D supplementation, improved their FPG (Ashraf et al. 2011). Belenchia et al. (2013) conducted a randomized double-blind controlled trial, where 35 obese American teenagers with vitamin D deficiency received 1000  $\mu$ g/d for 6 months. The comparison group received a placebo. The treatment group improved their insulin sensitivity and their leptin/adiponectin ratio, which has been suggested as a possible mediator for insulin resistance.

# 2.4.6. Vitamin D and lipids

A recent systematic review and meta-analysis of serum 25(OH)D concentration and lipids in children and adolescents, mostly composed of cross-sectional studies, showed that for a higher serum 25(OH)D concentration, there was a significantly improved lipid profile (Kelishadi et al 2014a). Congruent with those results, cross-sectional studies made on children and adolescents showed that, for a lower serum 25(OH)D concentration, there was a higher TC and a higher LDL-C (Hassan et al. 2014, Cabral et al. 2016), a higher TG (Rodriguez-Rodriguez et al. 2011), or both (Kelishadi et al. 2014b, Petersen et al. 2015).

Other cross-sectional studies found a positive association between serum 25(OH)D concentration and HDL-C (Rajakumar et al. 2011, Williams et al. 2012). Johnson et al. (2010) found a positive association between 25(OH)D and HDL-C among 2-18 years old children, independent of age, sex, BMI and season. Supportively, Birken et al. (2015) found that for a higher level of vitamin D, there was a better lipid profile (non-HDL-C, TC and TG) among 1 to 5 years old Canadian children, independent of BMI, milk intake and physical activity. To my knowledge, only one randomized control trial showed that vitamin D supplementation in 10-14-year-old children succeeded to increase their HDL-C level (Tavakoli et al. 2016). A cross-sectional analysis of a prospective cohort study, made on 205 Korean 7-9-year-old children, found that for a higher serum 25(OH)D concentration, there was a decreased serum level of TG, after adjustment for age, sex and BMI (Kwon et al. 2015). However, there were no associations between serum 25(OH)D concentration and

HDL-C, LDL-C, or LDL-C/HDL-C ratio (Kwon et al. 2015). Nwosu et al. (2013) found that pre-pubertal subjects with serum  $25(OH)D \ge 50$  nmol/l had a better lipid profile including lower levels of non-HDL-C, TC/HDL-C ratio and TG than subjects with serum 25(OH)D concentration < 50 nmol/l. However, no adjustment for physical activity was performed.

Some studies found contradictory results. For example, Delvin et al. (2010) found a slightly positive association between serum 25(OH)D and TC, TG and apolipoprotein A-1, but only in girls. It was proposed that those results could be due to sex difference and hormonal sensitivity regarding lipid metabolism (Delvin et al. 2010). Delvin did not control for puberty, which is known to play a role in lipid metabolism and insulin sensitivity. Also, Ashraf et al. (2011) found a positive association between vitamin D and LDL-C in African and Caucasian American obese female adolescents, but this association may have been due to dietary factors.

In a cross-sectional study by Jang et al. (2013), the positive association between serum 25(OH)D and HDL-C became non-significant after adjustment for physical activity and BMI, suggesting that physical activity and visceral fat are important confounders. In conclusion, a higher serum 25(OH)D concentration seems to be associated with a better lipid profile. However, randomized control trials are needed in order to confirm the relationship and prove the possible causality.

# 2.4.7 Vitamin D and blood pressure

It has been previously showed that blood pressure varies seasonally in children, with a higher SBP and DBP during the winter months in Leipzig, Germany (Miersch et al. 2013). However, the author concluded that it was less likely to be explained by the variation in serum 25(OH)D concentration between seasons. A cross-sectional analysis made on 205 Korean children aged 7-9 years found that for a higher serum 25(OH)D concentration, there was a lower blood pressure (Kwon et al. 2015). A review in children showed that vitamin D deficiency or insufficiency may be associated with hypertension and other pediatric cardiovascular diseases, like orthostatic intolerance and Kawasaki disease (Xu et al. 2017). In a cross-sectional study of obese children and adolescents, vitamin D deficiency was independently associated with a higher SBP and DBP, after adjustment for BMI or total fat mass (Kao et al. 2015). Serum 25(OH)D concentration was inversely correlated with blood pressure among Brazilian teenagers (Oliveira et al. 2013).

# 2.4.8 Vitamin D and liver enzymes

Ashraf et al. 2011 found that, among African American obese adolescent women, a higher vitamin D level was associated with a higher alanine aminotransferase (ALT). This was not found among Caucasian Americans, suggesting that, in that particular study, ethnicity may have had a potential role in the association, but the plausible explanation remains unclear (Ashraf et al.2011). Contrary to the results of Ashraf et al. (2011), Nobili et al. (2014) found that vitamin D concentration was lower among 8-18 years old children with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease, suggesting that vitamin D may have a protective role regarding non-alcoholic fatty liver disease, which is usually related to obesity and MetS. Therefore, it is unclear if serum 25(OH)D concentration has a positive or negative association with liver enzymes. To the best of my knowledge, there are no studies on this issue in children.

# 2.4.9 Vitamin D and inflammation

A pro-inflammatory state has been previously linked with increased cardiovascular risk among subjects with MetS (Devaraj et al. 2009). Vitamin D deficiency has been associated with inflammatory diseases, but a causal role has not yet been established (Yin & Agrawal 2014). In mice, serum 25(OH)D concentration mediated the inhibition of tumor necrosis factor alfa (Cantorna & Mahon 2005) and may have a role in the pathophysiology of inflammatory diseases. Tumor necrosis alfa is a pro-inflammatory factor, which is secreted in the adipocytes, and linked to insulin resistance and inflammation (Ruan 2003).

Vitamin D deficiency has been associated with a pro-inflammatory state of the vascular wall, and to vascular endothelial dysfunction (Jablonski et al. 2011). More specifically, Jablonsky et al. (2011) showed that vitamin D deficiency was associated with a decreased flowmediated dilation of the brachial artery in adults. However, it was not associated with tumor necrosis factor-alfa. The same study showed that vitamin D deficient subjects had a decreased expression of vitamin D receptor and 1-alfa-hydroxylase in the vascular endothelium, and an increased expression of the pro-inflammatory nuclear factor NF- $\kappa$ B in the endothelial cell, and increased expression of the inflammatory factor interleukin 6.

# 3.AIMS

The aim of the thesis was to analyze the association between serum 25(OH)D and CMR in Finnish children, using the data of the PANIC study at the baseline (2007-2009).

# 4. METHODS

# 4.1 Study design

This study is part of the PANIC study, which is a long term controlled intervention study on physical activity and nutrition among pre-pubertal children living in Kuopio, Finland. A total of 736 children aged 6-8 years who started the first grade in 2007-2009 were invited to participate in the study. A total of 512 (70%) children participated in the baseline examinations, held between October 2007 and November 2009. Six children were excluded from the intervention study because of severe physical disability or withdrawal from the study during baseline examinations. Serum 25(OH)D concentration and fasting blood samples were available for 447 children (214 girls, 233 boys) . The study protocol of the original study was approved by the Research Ethics Committee of the Hospital District of Northern Savo. A written informed consent was collected from children and their parents. The data of this thesis are cross-sectional from the baseline of the PANIC study.

# **4.2 Measurements**

# 4.2.1 Biochemical assessments

Venous blood samples were taken after a 12-hour overnight fasting. Blood was immediately centrifuged and stored at a temperature of -75°C until further analyses except for glucose and lipids that were measured from non-frozen plasma samples.

## Serum 25(OH)D concentration

Serum 25(OH)D concentration was analyzed by a chemiluminescence immunoassay called the LIAISON® 25 OH Vitamin D TOTAL Assay (DiaSorin Inc., Stillwater, MN, USA) using an automatic immunoanalyzer (DiaSorin S.p.A., Saluggia, Italy). Total variation, including intra-assay and interassay variation, for the assay is 8.2-11.0% in the concentration range of 21-123 nmol/l.

# Cardiometabolic risk factors

Biochemical analyses were done using Cobas 6000 analyzers (Hitachi High Technology Co, Tokyo, Japan). FPG was analyzed using a hexokinase method (Roche Diagnostics Co, Mannheim, Germany). Serum insulin was analyzed by using an electrochemiluminescence immunoassay with the sandwich principle (Roche Diagnostics Co). Total plasma cholesterol and TG were analyzed by using a colorimetric enzymatic assay (Roche Diagnostics Co). HDL-C and LDL-C were analyzed by using a homogeneous enzymatic colorimetric assay (Roche Diagnostics Co). Plasma high sensitivity C-reactive protein (hs-CRP) was measured using enhanced immunoturbidimetric assay with hs-CRP (Latex) High Sensitive Assay reagent (Roche Diagnostics Co). The limit of quantitation for hs-CRP was 0.29 mg/l. ALT and gamma-glutamyl transpeptidase (GGT) were analyzed by a kinetic method according to the International Federation of Clinical Chemistry (Roche Diagnostics Co). HOMA-IR was calculated as fasting Insulin x FPG/405.

#### 4.2.2 Assessments of body composition

Body composition was measured after overnight fasting, standing in light underwear, with empty bladder, and after removing all metal objects. Body fat mass, total body fat %, and lean body mass were measured using a Lunar dual energy X-ray absorptiometry device (Lunar Prodigy Advance; GE Medical Systems, Madison, WI). In this study, body fat % refers to the measured total body fat %. Body weight was measured twice by a calibrated InBody 720 bioelectrical impedance device (Biospace, Korea) to an accuracy of 0.1 kg. The mean value was used as a weight variable for analyses. Body height was measured three times in the Frankfurt plane without shoes by a wall-mounted stadiometer to an accuracy of 0.1 cm. Waist circumference was measured three times after expiration at mid distance between the lower rib and the iliac crest with a measuring tape to an accuracy of 0.1 cm. The mean of the nearest two values of body height and waist circumference were used for the analyses. BMI was calculated as body weight (kg) divided by body height (m) squared.

# 4.2.3 Assessment of blood pressure

Blood pressure was measured manually by a calibrated aneroid sphygmomanometer (HEINE GAMMA G7, Germany). After an initial rest of 5 minutes, three measurements of blood pressure at 2-minute intervals were taken in a sitting position. The mean of the three values were used as SBP and DBP.

# 4.2.4 Cardiometabolic risk score

The CMR score was calculated as the sum of standardized variable (Z-scores) of waist circumference, fasting serum concentration of insulin, FPG, TG and HDL-C and the mean of DBP and SBP. The Z-score of HDL-C was multiplied by -1, because it is inversely associated

with the CMR. A lower CMR score indicates a better CMR profile. The CMR score has been validated in children as an appropriate tool to measure the index of MetS for pediatric epidemiological studies (Shafiee et al. 2013).

#### 4.2.5 Other factors affecting serum 25(OH)D concentration

An exercise specialist or a nutritionist instructed the parents to fill out the PANIC questionnaires that included items on several topics including physical activity, race, parent's education, income (Haapala et al. 2014) and skin types (Soininen et al. 2016).

# **Food questionnaire**

The parents received instructions to record all food and drink consumption of their children at home and outside of home. Schools and afterschool clubs were asked for detailed information about the type and preparation of served food. A food record of 4 consecutive days was collected. A clinical nutritionist made a verification of the records and assisted the parents in filling out any missing information. Records consisting of either 3 weekdays + 1 weekend days or 2 weekdays + 2 weekend days were included in the analyses. Among the 428 returned food questionnaires, 423 (98.8%) were filled out sufficiently and included in the analysis.

The Micro Nutrica dietary analysis software (version 2.5, The Social Insurance Institution of Finland, Turku, Finland) was used to analyze the food records (Eloranta et al. 2011, 2016). Vitamin D intake from diet was calculated from the food records using Micro Nutrica dietary analysis software. The vitamin D from diet was calculated from ingested foods fortified with vitamin D including milk, dairy products and margarines, and from other ingested food containing vitamin D including fish, meat and grain products (Soininen et al. 2016). The use of vitamins and supplements was also assessed by the PANIC questionnaire including brand and dosage of supplements, and frequency of supplement use. Because many children used supplements in series only during winter, an average daily dose of supplements of vitamin D for the 1-month period prior to the blood sampling was calculated.

The Dietary Approach to Stop Hypertension (DASH) diet has proved beneficial at preventing CVD among adults with an increased CMR (Siervo et al. 2015). It is an indicator of a healthy diet, which is defined by a higher consumption of vegetables, fruit, nuts, whole grain and legumes, low-fat dairy products, fish, lean meats and by a lower consumption of red

meat, sugar, salt, saturated fat and cholesterol (National Institute of Health 2006). A score for the DASH was calculated from the food records.

The Dietary fat intake ratio was determined as the ratio of unsaturated to saturated fat. It was calculated as a summation of the proportion of daily energy intake from monounsaturated fatty acids (%E MUFA) and polyunsaturated fatty acids (%E PUFA) divided by the proportion of daily energy intake from saturated fat (%E SFA).

# **Physical activity**

Physical activity and sedentary behavior were assessed by the PANIC Physical Activity Questionnaire administrated by the parents at home (Haapala et al. 2014, Väistö et al. 2014, Lampinen et al. 2017). The questionnaire included information on organized sports, supervised exercise organized by sports clubs, unsupervised leisure time- and commuting physical activity, and physical activity during recess at school. The amount of each type of physical activity was calculated by a frequency of the physical activity and time spent for each session of physical activity and was expressed in minutes per day. The questionnaire measured the sum of different types of physical activity performed during an average week. In addition, since 90 minutes per week of physical education during school is compulsory for all first-grade children in Kuopio, it was added to the total physical activity for all children participating in the study. Physical activity performed indoors or outdoors was not calculated separately (Haapala et al. 2014). The PANIC Physical Activity Questionnaire was validated using the Actiheart monitor (Actiheart CamNtech, Cambridge, UK) combining heart rate and accelerometer measurements in a subsample of 38 children examined at the baseline of the PANIC study (Väistö et al. 2014). Total physical activity measured by the questionnaire correlated positively with total physical activity measured by the Actiheart monitor (r = 0.37, p = 0.033).

# Sun exposure

The average daylight time during the 3 months before the blood sampling was calculated using the data provided by the Almanac Office, University of Helsinki (Soininen et al. 2016). Kuopio, Finland, is at a latitude  $62 \cdot 89^{\circ}$ N. Blood samples were collected between August and June. The average daylight time was expressed as a continuous variable, giving an approximation of the sun exposure prior to the blood test. Information regarding travels to sunny locations within 3 months before the blood sampling (no, yes), and sunscreen use (no, occasionally, frequently) were recorded from the questionnaires filled by the parents.

# Skin type and race

The skin types and information on race were collected by the PANIC study self-administrated questionnaire, filled by the parents. The Fitzpatrick skin types were defined as type I: always burns, never tans; type II: often burns, sometimes tans; type III: sometimes burns, often tans; type IV: never burns, always tans (Fitzpatrick 1988). A dichotomic variable was created using type 1 and 2, and type 3 and 4 as separate groups. The race was dichotomized as Caucasian or non-Caucasian. Non-caucasian was classified as having at least one non-caucasian parent. Missing data were assumed to be Caucasians, due to the high prevalence (98.7%) of Caucasian in the studied population.

# Socio-economic factors

The parental education and household income was assessed by the PANIC study selfadministrated questionnaire, filled by the parents. The level of education was set as the highest completed or ongoing degree (vocational school or less, university of applied science, university). A dichotomous variable was formed as 1) vocational school or less and vocational high school and 2) university. The reason behind that choice was because children from households with university education had a statistically significantly higher serum 25(OH)D than children from households with a university of applied science degree or from households with a vocational school degree or less. Parental education was chosen as the predominant factor reflecting the socio-economic status of the subjects. Household income was also collected from the questionnaire filled by the parents, but was excluded from the statistical analysis, to avoid multicollinearity.

# **Pubertal status**

A research physician performed a physical examination of all children and assessed the pubertal status. The children were classified as having entered puberty if their Tanner stage was > 1. Central puberty was defined as breast development at Tanner stage  $\geq 2$  for girls and testicular volume  $\geq 4$  ml assessed using an orchidometer for boys (Marshall & Tanner 1969, 1970). A dichotomic variable classified as having entered puberty 1) no 2) yes was created and used in the model 3 of the statistical analysis.

# 4.3 Statistical analysis

A statistical analysis was performed using SPSS software for Windows, version 25 (Chicago, IL). In all performed analyses, a p-values of  $\leq 0.05$  were considered statistically significant.

Differences between girls and boys were tested with independent samples t-test for normally distributed variables, Mann-Whitney's U test for skewed variables and Pearson's x<sup>2</sup> test for categorical variables. Logarithmic transformation was performed for body weight, BMI, waist circumference, body fat %, total vitamin D intake from diet and supplements one month prior to the blood sampling, dietary fat intake ratio, serum 25(OH)D, ALT, GGT, HDL and plasma TG before analyses. Square-root transformation was performed for SBP, total physical activity, TC, LDL-C, FPG and HOMA-IR.

# Statistical analysis for serum 25(OH)D and the components of CMR

To find a possible association between serum 25(OH)D concentration and the different components of the CMR, I used three different linear logistic regression models, in which serum 25(OH)D concentration was included as an independent variable. In each model, analysis was made separately for each component of the CMR, set as the dependent variable. Those included lipids, liver enzymes, insulin resistance, blood pressure, inflammation markers and the CMR score.

The first two regression models, model 1 and 2, were built according to predetermined confounders based on literature. Model 1 was adjusted for age and sex. Model 2 was adjusted for age, sex, physical activity, DASH-score, and body fat %.

The third model, or model 3, was created using a backward elimination method in a stepwise multiple linear regression model. The independent variables included in the stepwise backward elimination method were the serum 25(OH)D concentration, age, sex, race, physical activity, body fat %, dietary fat intake ratio, average vitamin D intake from diet and supplement one month prior to the blood sampling, average length of the day three months before the blood sampling, skin types, travel to sunny location three months before blood sampling, use of sunscreen, race, education of the parents and puberty. The least significant independent variable was removed from the model after each regression analysis, until only

statistically significant independent variables were left in the model. Serum 25(OH)D concentration was a variable of interested and was included in the final model. The standardized beta of 25(OH)D was reported. This backwise elimination method was repeated separately for each component of the CMR and the standardized beta of 25(OH)D for each component of the CMR was reported for each backward model. Each final regression model was checked for multicollinearity.

# Statistical analysis for serum 25(OH)D and hs-CRP groups

In adults, hs-CRP <1.0 mg/l correspond to a low risk of developing CVD diseases (<10%), a hs-CRP 1.0-3.0 mg/l correspond to a moderate risk (10-20%), and an hs-CRP >3.0 mg/l correspond to a high risk (>20%) of developing CVD (Pearson et al. 2003). In the literature, there were no hs-CRP reference values defined for children. Therefore, I based cut-off values for hs-CRP categories according to the threshold values in adults.

The variable hs-CRP had a positively skewed distribution due to the fact that most children had an hs-CRP below the detectable value (0.29 mg/l). Therefore, hs-CRP could not be used as a continuous variable. A dichotomized hs-CRP variable was defined as a low risk group for subject of hs-CRP <1.0 mg/l versus moderate-and high risk groups for subjects of hs-CRP >1.0 mg/l. Children with hs-CRP level of more than 5.0 mg/l were excluded due to possible inflammatory conditions or infections.

The possible association between serum 25(OH)D concentration and the hs-CRP values between low risk (hs-CRP <1.0mg/l) and moderate and high risk for CVD (hs-CRP 1.0-5.0 mg/l) was tested through a multiple linear regression analysis. Three multiple linear regression models were built, using the logarithmic value of serum 25(OH)D concentration as the continuous dependent variable. Independent variables were the dichotomous variable of hs-CRP and variables of different confounders based on literature: age and sex for model 1, age, sex, physical activity, body fat % and DASH-score for model 2. Model 3 was built using a backward elimination method in the stepwise multiple linear regression model, where age, sex, race, physical activity, body fat %, dietary fat intake ratio, average vitamin D intake from diet and supplement one month previous to the blood sampling, average length of the day three months before the blood sampling, skin types, travel to sunny location three months before blood sampling, use of sunscreen, race, education of the parents and puberty were

included in the initial model. Only statistically significant variables were kept in the final model. Results of the associations were expressed as standardized regression coefficient Beta.

# 5. RESULTS

# 5.1 Characteristics of the study population.

The study population included 214 girls (47.9%) and 233 boys (52.1%) (Table 3). The mean age was 7.6 years (range 6.6 - 9.0 years). The majority of the children were Caucasian 98.7%. Parents of children were in general well educated, with 20.4% having a vocational education or less, 45.4% having university of applied science degree and 33.7% having a university degree. Most children (97.5%) had not entered puberty at the time of the study. Children had a mean BMI of 16.1 ranging from 12.8 to 24.6, and a median of 15.6 (IQR 14.7, 17.0). There were no differences in race, parental education, household income, pubertal status and BMI between girls and boys. Boys were taller, slightly heavier, and had a smaller waist circumference and a body fat % than the girls. The median vitamin D intake was  $6.4 \mu g/d$  (Table 4). There was no statistical difference in vitamin D intake between girls and boys. The boys had a lower DASH-score than the girls. There was no difference in the amount of SFA, MUFA and PUFA consumption between girls and boys.

A total of 19.5% of children had a serum 25(OH)D concentration <50 nmol/l and 69% had a serum 25(OH)D concentration <75 nmol/l (not shown). Serum 25(OH) D concentration varied from 19.4 nmol/l to 199.0 nmol/l, with a mean of 68.0 nmol/l (median 66 nmol/l) (Table 5). Boys were physically more active than the girls. Boys used less frequently sunscreen than girls. Less than 10% of children had travelled to sunny countries 3 months prior to blood sampling. Girls and boys equally travelled to sunny countries. There were no differences in skin pigmentation between girls and boys. There was an equal average daylight time 3 month prior to blood test in both sexes.

Boys had a lower TG, fasting insulin, a slightly lower HOMA-IR and a higher FPG than the girls (Table 6). There was no difference in TC, HDL-C, LDL-C, ALT, GGT, CMR score, SBP and DBP between girls and boys. The median hs-CRP was low (0.2900). The median value of hs-CRP was the same for girls and boys (0.29 mg/l), however, there was a statistically significant difference in the distribution of absolute hs-CRP between girls and

boys, favoring boys for lower hs-CRP values (table 7). There were an equal distribution of girls and boys among hs-CRP categories (<1.0 mg/l vs 1.0-5.0 mg/l).

	All	$(n=447)^1$	G	irls (n=214)	Bo	oys (n=233)	p <sup>3</sup>
Age (y)	7.	$6 (0.4)^2$		7.6 (0.4)		7.7 (0.4)	0.111
Race Caucasians		5 (98.7%)	1	82 (98.4%)		94 (99.0%)	0.777
Non-Caucasians	5	(1.3%)		3 (1.6%)		2 (1.0%)	0.677
Parental education Vocational high school or less University		8 (66.3%) 9 (33.7%)		53 (72.2%) 59 (27.8%)		40 (60.9%) 3.6 (39.1%)	0.016
Household income ≤60 000 €/y >60 000 €/y		8 (65.1%) 2 (34.9%)		46 (69.5%) 54 (30.5%)		37 (60.9%) 8 (39.1%)	0.070
Pubertal status Pre-pubertal Pubertal		) (97.5%) (2.5%)	2	04 (96.2%) 8 (3.8%)		26 (98.7%) 3 (1.3%)	0.129
Height (cm)	129.0	$(125.5-132.0)^2$	128.1	(123.6 - 131.0)	130.2	(126.9 -132.7)	<0.001
Weight (kg)	26.0	(23.5 - 29.3)	25.4	(23.2 - 29.0)	25.6	(23.9 – 29.6)	0.047
BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	15.6	(14.7 – 17.0)	15.7	(14.6 – 17.0)	15.6	(14.7 – 17.0)	0.894
Waist circumference (cm)	55.6	(53.0 - 59.0)	55.6	(52.3 - 58.2)	54.8	(53.6 - 59.5)	0.004
Body fat %	18.7	(13.3 - 24.1)	20.7	(17.4 - 27.2)	15.1	(11.4 - 21.5)	<0.001

Table 3. Socio-economic and anthropometric characteristics of children and difference between girls and boys.

IQR, interquartile range; SD, standard deviation; BMI, body mass index; body fat %; n=number of children; <sup>1</sup>n= varies between 435 and 447 in different variables: n=447 (214 girls, 233 boys) for age, height and waist circumference; n= 446 (214 girls, 232 boys) for BMI; n=435 (209 girls, 226 boys) for body fat %. <sup>2</sup>The values are means (SDs) for normally distributed variables: age; medians (IQR<sub>s</sub>) for skewed variables: height, weight, BMI, waist circumference and body fat %; or number of subjects (%) for categorical variables. <sup>3</sup>Differences between girls and boys were tested with independent samples t-test for normally distributed variables, Mann-Whitney's U test for skewed variables and Pearson's x<sup>2</sup> test for categorical variables. Logarithmic transformation was performed for body weight, BMI, waist circumference and body fat %.

# Table 4. Dietary intake in boys and girls

	All (n=432) <sup>1</sup>	Girls (n=209)	Boys (n=223)	$p^2$
Total Vitamin D intake <sup>3</sup>	$6.4 \qquad (4.7 - 9.1)^4$	6.1 (4.7 – 8.4)	6.9 (4.8-9.6)	0.128
DASH-Score	21.0 (18.0 – 24.0)	22.0 (19.0 – 25.0)	21.0 (18.0 – 24.0)	0.004
Dietary fat intake ratio in diet	$1.3 (0.3)^4$	1.3 (0.3)	1.3 (0.3)	0.749
SFA, % of total energy	12.1 (2.7)	12.0 (2.7)	12.2 (2.7)	0.686
MUFA, % of total energy	9.9 (1.8)	9.8 (1.8)	10.0 (1.8)	0.401
PUFA, % of total energy	4.9 (1.3)	4.9 (1.3)	5.0 (1.3)	0.610

IQR, interquartile range; DASH-score, Dietary Approach to Stop Hypertension Score; Dietary fat intake ratio in diet calculated as (MUFA+PUFA)/SFA; SD, standard deviation; MUFA, monounsaturated fatty acids; PUFA, polyunsaturated fatty acids; ; SFA, saturated fatty acids; %E, % of total energy; n, number of children. <sup>1</sup> n varies between 372 and 432 between variables. n=372 (183 girls, 189 boys) for DASH score, dietary fat intake ratio, SFA %E, MUFA %E and PUFA %E; n=432(209 girls, 223 boys) for total vitamin D intake. <sup>2</sup> Difference s between girls and boys were tested with independent samples t-test for normally distributed variables, Mann-Whitney's U test for skewed variables and Pearson's x<sup>2</sup> test for categorical variables. Logarithmic transformation was performed for total vitamin D intake, dietary fat intake ratio in diet before analyses; <sup>3</sup> average intake of vitamin D (µg/d) from diet and supplements, 1 month before the blood sampling; <sup>4</sup>The values are presented as means (SDs) for normally distributed variables: dietary fat intake ratio in diet, SFA E%, MUFA E%, PUFA E% and medians (IQR<sub>s</sub>) for skewed variables: total vitamin D intake and DASH score.

	All (n=447) <sup>1</sup>		Girls (n=214)		Boys (n=233)		$p^2$	
Serum 25(OH)D concentration	65.8	$(52.0 - 79.0)^3$	64.4	(53.1 – 74.9)	67.3	(50.4 - 83.5)	0.124	
nmol/l)								
Average daylight time during 3 nonths before blood sampling (h/d)	11.0	(7.2 – 13.8)	11.0	(7.5 – 14.4)	10.9	(7.1 – 13.6)	0.257	
Travel to sunny countries								
es	28	$(8.7\%)^3$	1	3 (8.2%)	1	5 (9.3%)		
0	293 (91.3%)		146 (91.8%)		147 (90.7%)		0.844	
Sunscreen use								
Occasionally or frequently	25	7 (79.1%)	14	0 (87.5%)	11	7 (70.9%)		
No	68	8 (20.9%)	20	0 (12.5%)	43	8 (29.1%)	<0.001	
itzpatrick skin type <sup>4</sup>								
or II	93	3 (28.8%)	49	9 (30.8%)	44	4 (26.8%)		
II or IV	23	0 (71.2%)	11	0 (69.2%)	12	20 (73.2%)	0.462	
Physical activity (min/d)	107.1	(77.1 – 139.4)	100.0	(72.6 – 130.5)	115.7	(85.0 - 153.0)	<0.001	

Table 5. Serum 25(OH)D concentration, sun exposure and other confounding factors of serum 25(OH)D.

IQR, interquartile range; 25(OH)D, 25-hydroxyvitamin D; n=number of children. n=447 children, 214 girls and 233 boys unless otherwise specified

<sup>1</sup> n varies between 442 and 447 between variables. n=447 (214 girls, 233 boys) for serum25(OH)D concentration and average daylight time during 3 months before blood sampling; n=442(210 girls, 232 boys) for physical activity. <sup>2</sup> Difference s between girls and boys were tested with independent samples t test for normally distributed variables, Mann-Whitney's U test for skewed variables and Pearson's x<sup>2</sup> test for categorical variables. Logarithmic transformation was performed for serum 25(OH)D concentration. Square-root transformation was done for total physical activity; <sup>3</sup>The values are presented as medians (IQR<sub>s</sub>) for skewed variables: serum 25(OH)D concentration, daylight time and physical activity; and as mean (%) for categorical variables: travel to sunny locations, sunscreen use, skin types. <sup>4</sup> defined as type I: always burns, never tans; type II: often burns, sometimes tans; type III: sometimes burns, often tans; type IV: never burns, always tans.

	Median <sup>2</sup>	All $(n=447)^1$ IQR <sup>2</sup> (25; 75 percentile)	Median	Girls (n=214) IQR (25, 75 percentile)	Median	Boys (n=233) IQR (25, 75 percentile)	<b>p</b> <sup>3</sup>
TC (mmol/l)	4.2	(3.9, 4.7)	4.3	(3.9, 4.7)	4.2	(3.8, 4.7)	0.154
HDL-C (mmol/l)	1.6	(1.4, 1.8)	1.6	(1.4, 1.7)	1.6	(1.4, 1.8)	0.084
LDL-C (mmol/l)	2.3	(2.0, 2.6)	2.4	(2.0, 2.7)	2.3	(2.0, 2.6)	0.093
TG (mmol/l)	0.6	(0.4, 0.7)	0.6	(0.5, 0.7)	0.5	(0.4, 0.7)	0.040
ALT (U/l)	18.0	(15.0, 21.0)	18.0	(15.0, 21.0)	18.0	(15.0, 22.0)	0.424
GGT (U/l)	11.0	(10.0, 13.0)	11.0	(10.0, 13.0)	12.0	(10.0, 13.0)	0.486
FPG (mmol/l)	4.8	(4.6, 5.0)	4.8	(4.6, 4.9)	4.9	(4.7, 5.1)	<0.001
Fasting insulin (mU/l)	4.1	(2.8, 5.7)	4.6	(3.4, 6.2)	3.9	(2.5, 5.4)	0.003
HOMA-IR	0.89	(0.59, 1.28)	0.98	(0.68, 1.32)	0.85	(0.53, 1.19)	0.022
CMR score mean (SD) <sup>2</sup>	0.60	(3.5244)	0.386	(3.5237)	-0.0236	(3.5324)	0.853
SBP (mmHg)	100.0	(95.3, 105.3)	100.0	(94.7, 104.7)	100.4	(96.0, 105.3)	0.515
DBP (mmHg)	61.3	(57.3, 66.7)	61.3	(57.3, 66.0)	61.3	(57.3, 66.7)	0.535

 Table 6
 Metabolic factors and difference between boys and girls

IQR, interquartile range; TC, total plasma cholesterol; HDL-C, high-density lipoprotein cholesterol; LDL-C, low-density-lipoprotein cholesterol; TG, triglycerides; ALT, alanine aminotransferase; GGT, gamma-glutamyl transpeptidase; FPG, fasting plasma glucose; HOMA-IR, Homeostatic Model Assessment of Insulin Resistance Index; QUICKI, quantitative insulin sensitivity check index; CMR, cardiometabolic risk; SD standard deviation; SBP, systolic blood pressure; DBP, diastolic blood pressure; n=number of children,. <sup>1</sup> varies between 442 and 447 between variables: n= 447(214 girls, 233 boys) for TC, HDL-C, LDL-C; TG, ALT, GGT and FPG; n=446 (213 girls, 233 boys) for SBP and DBP; n=443 (211 girls, 232 boys) for HOMA-IR and QUICKI; n=442 (210 girls, 232 boys) for CMR score. <sup>2</sup>The values are means (SDs) for normally distributed variables, medians (IQR<sub>s</sub>) for skewed variables, or number of subjects (%) for categorical variables. <sup>3</sup>Difference s between girls and boys were tested with independent samples t-test for normally distributed variables, Mann-Whitney's U test for skewed variables. Logarithmic transformation was performed for ALT, GGT, HDL-C, TG, and QUICKI before statistical analysis. Square-root transformation was performed for TC, LDL-C, FPG, HOMA-IR and SBP.

**Table 7** Measure of inflammation and difference between boys and girls

	All (n=435) <sup>1</sup>	Girls (n=207)	Boys (n=228)	$p^2$
Hs-CRP	$(0.2900  (0.2900, \ 0.5500)^3$	0.2900 (0.2900, 0.6200)	0.2900 (0.2900, 0.4675)	0.005
hs-CRP low risk group <sup>4</sup>	376 (86.2%)	175 (84.1%)	201 (88.2%)	
hs-CRP moderate and high risk group <sup>5</sup>	60 (13.8%)	33 (15.9%)	27 (11.8%)	0.266

IQR, interquartile range; hs-CRP, high-sensitivity C-reactive protein; NC, non-calculable due to small number of subjects; n= number of subjects. <sup>1</sup>n varies between 9 and 376 between groups:.n= 376 subjects (175 girls, 201 boys) for hs-CRP low risk category; n=51 (27 girls, 24 boys) for hs-CRP moderate risk category; n= 9 (6 girls, 3 boys) for hs-CRP high risk category. n=435 (207 girls, 228 boys) for all hs-CRP categories. <sup>2</sup> statistical difference between girls and boys was tested with Mann-Whitney's U t-test for hs-CRP and pearson chi square test for difference in the amount of girls and boys between different categories of hs-CRP. <sup>3</sup>The values are presented as medians (IQR<sub>s 25;75 percentile</sub>) for skewed continuous variables: hs-CRP and as mean (%) for categorical variables: hs-CRP low, moderate and high risk group. <sup>4</sup>hs-CRP low risk:<1.0 mg/L, <sup>5</sup>hs-CRP moderate and high risk group: 1.0-5.0 mg/L

### 5.2. Associations between serum 25(OH)D concentration and cardiometabolic risk

A higher serum concentration of 25(OH)D was associated with a lower SBP, TC, LDL-C, HDL-C, TG, and with a higher ALT, after adjustment for age and sex (Table 8, Model 1). A higher serum concentration of 25(OH)D was associated with a lower SBP, TC, LDL-C, HDL-C, and with a higher ALT, after adjustment for age, sex, physical activity, DASH-score and body fat % and TG became not statistically significant (Table 8, Model 2). Serum 25(OH)D concentration was not statistically significantly associated with the CMR score, height, BMI, waist circumference, body fat %, DBP, FPG, fasting insulin and measures of insulin resistance when adjusted for age and sex (Table 8, Model 1), and when adjusted for age, sex, physical activity, DASH-score and total body fat % (Table 8, Model 2).

A higher serum concentration of 25(OH)D was associated with a lower SBP, TC, LDL-C, HDL-C, TG, and with a higher ALT after proceeding to a stepwise backward elimination method including, in the final model, the most relevant confounders specific for each component of the CMR (Table 8, Model 3). In Model 3, the significant confounders were sex, body fat %, dietary fat intake ratio and puberty for SBP; body fat %, puberty and length of the day for TC; body fat % and puberty for LDL-C and HDL-C; body fat %, length of the day and physical activity for TG; and body fat %, sex and physical activity for ALT.

A multiple linear regression analysis, testing the association of categories of hs-CRP to serum 25(OH)D showed that having a hs-CRP between 1.0-5.0 mg/l was associated with a higher serum 25(OH)D concentration, than having a hs-CRP < 1.0 mg/l, after adjustment for age and sex (p=0.005) (Table 9). Further adjustments for physical activity, DASH-score and body fat % did not affect the association (p=0.008). A multiple linear regression using the stepwise backward method confirmed similar results, after adjustments for most relevant confounders, which were in model 3 age and vitamin D intake.

Components of the metabolic risk	Model 1 <sup>1</sup>	Model 2 <sup>2</sup>	Model 3 <sup>3</sup>
Weight (kg)	0.062	0.052	
Height (cm)	0.058	0.046	
BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	0.051	$0.050^4$	
Waist circumference	0.061	$0.056^4$	
Body fat %	0.002	$0.004^4$	
SBP (mmHg)	-0.103*	-0.144**	-0.151**
DBP (mmHg)	0.037	0.043	
TC (mmol/l)	-0.194 ***	-0.212***	-0.191***
HDL-C (mmol/l)	-0.165 ***	-0.142**	-0.184***
LDL-C (mmol/l)	-0.160 ***	-0.196***	-0.151***
TG (mmol/l)	-0.123 **	-0.099	-0.114*
ALT (mmol/l)	0.145 **	0.121*	0.133**
GGT (mmol/l)	0.000	0.017	
FPG (mmol/l)	0.034	0.033	
fasting insulin (mU/l)	0.009	0.013	
HOMA-IR	0.001	0.005	
CMR score	0.012	0.005	

Table 8. The associations between the serum concentration of 25(OH)D and the different components of the metabolic risk.

\*P $\leq$  0.05 \*\* P $\leq$  0.01 \*\*\*P $\leq$  0.001; 25(OH)D, 25-hydroxyvitamin;; DASH-score, Dietary Approach to Stop Hypertension Score; BMI, body mass index; SBP, systolic blood pressure; DBP, diastolic blood pressure; TC, total plasma cholesterol; HDL-C, high-density lipoprotein cholesterol; LDL-C, low-density-lipoprotein cholesterol; TG, triglycerides; ALT, alanine aminotransferase; GGT, gamma-glutamyl transpeptidase; FPG, fasting plasma glucose; HOMA-IR, Homeostatic Model Assessment of Insulin Resistance Index; CMR, cardiometabolic risk; Multiple linear regression models were performed. Results were expressed as standardized coefficient beta for serum 25(OH)D concentration. <sup>1</sup> Model 1 was adjusted for age and sex; <sup>2</sup>Model 2 was adjusted for age, sex, physical activity, DASH-score and total body fat %. <sup>3</sup> Model 3 was built using a stepwise backward elimination method: SBP was adjusted for total body fat %, sex, Dietary fat intake ratio and puberty; TC was adjusted for total body fat % and physical activity; LDL-C were adjusted for total body fat % and puberty; TG were adjusted for length of the day; HDL-C was adjusted for total body fat %, sex and physical activity. <sup>4</sup>Adjusted for age, sex, DASH-score and physical activity. n= number of subjects. In model 1,n=447 for height, TC, LDL-C, HDL-C, TG, ALT, GGT, FPG, n= 446 for weight, BMI, SBP, DBP, n= 443 for fasting insulin, n=442 for CMR score, n=435 for body fat %. In model 2, n= 365 for height, waist circumference, total body fat %, FPG, TC, LDL-C, TG, ALT, FFT; n=364 for weight, BMI, SBP, DBP; n= 362 for fasting insulin; n=361 for CMR score. In model 3, n=429 for TC, LDL-C; n=433 for HLD-C, TG, ALT; n=358 for SBP.

	Model 1 <sup>1</sup>	Model $1^1$ Model $2^2$		Model 3 <sup>3</sup>		
	Beta	р	Beta	р	Beta	р
Low hs-CRP group compared with the Moderate- and High hs-CRP group <sup>4</sup>	0.135	0.005	0.142	0.008	0.152	0.001

**Table 9**. Multiple linear regression for the association of serum 25(OH)D concentration and the hs-CRP in categories, expressed as standardized linear coefficient Beta

<sup>1</sup>adjusted for age and sex, <sup>2</sup>adjusted for age, sex, physical activity, DASH-score and body fat % <sup>3</sup>stepwise backward regression where age, vitamin D intake and CRP categories were including in the final model.
<sup>4</sup>Low hs-CRP : 0.29-0.99 mg/l (corresponding to a low risk of developing CVD in adults) Moderate hs-CRP: 1.00-3.00 mg/l (corresponding to a moderate risk of developing CVD in adults) High hs-CRP : 3.01-5.00 mg/l (corresponding to a high risk of developing CVD in adults)
<sup>5</sup>n= 436 for model 1, n= 358 for model 2, n= 244 for model 3.

### 6. DISCUSSION

# 6.1 Main findings

For a higher serum 25(OH)D concentration, there was a lower level of SBP, TC, LDL-C, HDL-C, TG, and a higher level of ALT. Only the association of 25(OH)D with TG was partly explained by confounding factors, which included age, sex, BMI, physical activity and DASH-score. Children with higher hs-CRP (1.0-5.0 mg/l) had higher serum 25(OH)D concentration than children with lower hs-CRP (<1.0 mg/l).

The present study did not find an association between serum 25(OH)D concentration and BMI, waist circumference, height, body fat % or DBP. Serum 25(OH)D was neither associated with FPG, fasting insulin or the parameters of insulin resistance.

# 6.2 Serum 25(OH)D and the cardiometabolic risk

A similar study on serum 25(OH)D concentration and CMR was performed among 8-11year-old Danish children by Petersen et al. (2015). Their results were adjusted for age, sex, height, ethnicity, puberty, parental education, fat mass, physical activity and serum concentration of eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA) and docosahexaenoic acid (DHA). They found a positive association between serum 25(OH)D concentration and TC, LDL-C and TG, which is in line with the results of this thesis. Additionally, they found a positive association of serum 25(OH)D concentration with DBP and CMR, while in this thesis no statistically significant association was found. A systematic review found an inverse association between serum 25(OH)D concentration and SBP but found inconsistent association between serum 25(OH)D concentration and lipid profile and measures of insulin and glucose metabolism (Dolinsky et al. 2012). Dong et al. (2010) found that vitamin D supplementation of 100  $\mu$ g/d among black American adolescents succeeded in decreasing arterial stiffness, compared to the placebo group, who received 50  $\mu$ g/d of vitamin D. There is need for more randomized control trials in order to assess the roles of serum 25(OH)D concentration and vitamin D intake on the CMR.

Interestingly the results of this thesis bring contradictory findings regarding the association of serum 25(OH)D and CMR. On one hand, this thesis found that serum 25(OH)D is linked with a cardioprotective state with lower TC, LDL, TG and SBP, which is in line with previous

studies (Rodriguez-Rodriguez et al. 2011, Oliveira et al. 2013 Hassan et al. 2014, Kelishadi et al. 2014b, Birken et al. 2015, Kao et al. 2015, Petersen et al. 2015, Cabral et al. 2016). On the other hand, this thesis found that a higher serum 25(OH)D concentration is linked with a proinflammatory and atherogenic state with higher hs-CRP and a lower HDL. This is in contradiction with some of the previous studies (Johnson et al. 2010, Jablonsky et al. 2011, Tavakoli et al. 2016).

The results of this thesis also show that for a higher 25(OH)D concentration, there was a higher liver enzyme ALT. This is in line with the results of Ashraf et al. (2011). However, Nobili et al. (2014) found the opposite. There is some evidence that vitamin D deficiency is associated with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease among adults (Barchetta et al. 2017). A randomized control trial on vitamin D supplementation in children found that the combined treatment of DHA and vitamin D successfully reduced insulin –resistance, lipid profile, ALT and nonalcoholic fatty liver disease score (Della Corte et al. 2016).

# 6.2.1 Serum 25(OH)D concentration and visceral adiposity

Although obesity has been previously associated with a lower serum concentration of 25(OH)D (Cabral et al. 2016, Cediel et al. 2016), this thesis did not find any statistically significant relation between serum 25(OH)D and total body fat mass %, BMI, and waist circumference.

Only 14 % of girls and 10% of the boys in this population sample of prepubertal children aged 6-8 years were overweight or obese (Viitasalo et al. 2012). It is possible that children with a slightly higher BMI also had a higher muscular mass. However, in this thesis, BMI was highly correlated with body fat %, even after adjustment for age, sex, physical activity and DASH-score.

Interestingly, the studied children had an important variability in their body fat %, ranging from 5 to 45%, with a median of 19%. This thesis used body fat % as an estimate of the visceral adiposity. Although body fat % has previously been found to correlate with visceral adiposity among children with risk of obesity (Saelens et al. 2007), it is not sure if this correlation would persist among the mostly normal weight children of the PANIC study. Also, the use of body fat % does not measure the possible effects of fat free mass, height, body proportion, height (Weber et al.2012) and fat distribution in metabolic diseases.

Therefore, the use of total body fat % might not be an accurate measurement of visceral adiposity regarding the CMR in this study population of normal weight children.

## 6.2.2 Serum 25(OH)D concentration and glucose metabolism

This present study found no association between serum 25(OH)D and glucose metabolism and measurements of insulin resistance. This is in contradiction with previous findings. For instance, Cediel et al. (2016) found that higher serum concentration of 25(OH)D was associated with a lower insulin resistance (fasting insulin, HOMA-IR and Quantitative Insulin Sensitivity Check Index among 6-8-year-old children, after adjustment for age, sex, season and BMI. Jang et al. (2013) found a higher FPG in children with a lower 25(OH)D, after adjustment for BMI and physical activity. Johnson et al. (2010) also found an inverse correlation between serum 25(OH)D concentration and FPG in children aged 2-18 years, after adjustment for age, sex, BMI and season.

The reason for discrepancy between the results of this thesis and other studies regarding serum 25(OH)D and glucose metabolism might be partially explained by the low prevalence of overweight and obesity of the participants of the PANIC study. Morover, the children of the PANIC study were mainly prepuber, therefore, were not yet influenced by the physiological insulin resistance related to puberty.

Physical activity and cardiorespiratory fitness has been previously found to play a protective role regarding measurements of insulin resistance (Jiménez-Pavòn D et al. 2013, Väistö et al. 2014, Delisle Nyström et al. 2017) and of fasting glucose (Vaara 2015). In this thesis, 25(OH)D was not associated with markers of glucose metabolism even when the results were adjusted for physical activity. Furthermore, physical activity did not correlate with serum 25(OH)D concentration, despite the fact that physical activity may have been performed outside, and may have been a surrogate value for sun exposure. However, it is important to notice that the variable physical activity in different seasons of the year. Interestingly, previously published results from the same study population, showed an inverse association between physical activity and insulin resistance, although did not adjust for vitamin D (Väistö et al. 2014). It is possible that physical activity may be a stronger determinant for glucose metabolism than vitamin D.

Indeed, Belenchia et al. (2013) found that 100  $\mu$ g daily intake of vitamin D<sub>3</sub> improved the measurements of insulin resistance among obese American adolescents, compared with a group receiving a placebo. Belenchia et al. (2013) proposed that a possible mechanism could be that vitamin D improves peripheral and hepatic reuptake of glucose. Although this thesis did not find significant association between serum 25(OH)D and measures of insulin resistance, it is theoretically possible that vitamin D has a role to play in glucose metabolism and insulin resistance.

For instance, vitamin D receptor has been shown to influence the genes related to HOMA-IR (Carlsberg & Molnár 2015). Vitamin D receptor has been found in the pancreas beta-cells, and it has been suggested that adequate serum 25(OH)D concentration facilitates the biosynthetic capacity of beta-cells of the pancreas, by increasing the conversion rate of proinsulin into insulin (Martini et al. 2006). As previously mentioned, some individuals need a higher serum concentration of 25(OH)D (high-responders) than other individuals (lowresponders) in order to have the same indirect activation of the genome (Saksa et al. 2015). In this thesis, the lack of association between serum 25(OH)D and glucose metabolism could be due to individual differences in threshold of vitamin D in order to activate the vitamin D receptor related to glucose metabolism and insulin secretion. This thesis did not include genetic information, although data was available. In this study population of children, it would be therefore interesting to find which threshold of serum 25(OH)D concentration would activate the genetic expression of factors related to insulin secretion and glucose metabolism.

# 6.2.3 Serum 25(OH)D concentration and lipids

# Serum 25(OH)D concentration and TC, LDL-C and TG

This study found an inverse association between serum 25(OH)D concentration and TC, LDL-C and TG. Kelishadi et al. (2014b), Birken et al. (2015) and Petersen et al. (2015) found similar results among children and adolescents. Congruently, Hassan et al. (2014) and Cabral et al. (2016) found an inverse association between serum 25(OH)D and TC and LDL-C and some studies found an inverse association only for TG in children (Rodriguez-Rodriguez et al. 2011, Kwon et al. 2015 and Nwosu et al. 2013). A systematic review with meta-analysis, reported that serum 25(OH)D concentration was associated with a better lipid profile in children and adolescents (Kelishadi et al. 2014a). Similar results were reported in a

systematic review on adults (Jorde et al. 2011). Inversely, a review made by Dolinsky et al. (2012) found a lack of association between serum 25(OHD and lipids in most of the studies. The possible mechanism on how serum 25(OH)D concentration may be related to lipid syntheses and metabolism is complex. One possible mechanism may possibly be that the circulating level of 25(OH)D and ultraviolet light down-regulates 7-dehydrocholesterol reductase, the enzyme that converts 7-dehydrocholesterol into cholesterol in all tissues, including skin, as suggested by Zou & Porter (2015). According to Zou & Porter (2015), 25(OH)D had a "lesser" effect on 7-dehydrocholesterol reductase, while 1,25(OH<sub>2</sub>)D had no effect.

The 7-DCH, stored in the skin, is the substrate for both cholesterol and cholecalciferol (previtamin D<sub>3</sub>) (Zou & Porter 2015). Therefore, since both ultraviolet light and DHCR7 compete for the same substrate, it is possible that shifts toward the production of vitamin D<sub>3</sub> instead of cholesterol explains partly why serum 25(OH)D concentration is inversely associated with serum level of TC. In that respect, it would be interesting to know to which extent the skin is contributing to the TC production. It would also be relevant to find if there is a difference between the sources of vitamin D (diet versus UV-radiation) regarding the way it inhibits DHCR7 enzyme in skin and in other tissues, and consequently, down-regulate the synthesis of cholesterol.

Secondly, the role of serum 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D and parathormone in the lipid metabolism could be mediated by their action on the lipoprotein lipase (Querfeld et al. 1999). Lipoprotein lipase is found in the adipocytes, skeletal muscle, hearth, capillaries and arteries, and it is an important enzyme, which hydrolyses TG into free fatty acids and lipoproteins, leaving a substrate for HDL-C. Lipoprotein lipase also induces the process of VLDL conversion into LDL-C and helps remove chylomicrons from the circulation. It has been found that adipocytes have both vitamin D receptor and parathormone receptors, but those seem to have opposite effects on the production of lipoprotein lipase; 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D directly increases the production of lipoprotein lipase (Querfeld et al. 1999). Since vitamin D deficiency is often accompanied by an increased parathormone and a normal or slightly increased 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D (Kennel et al. 2010), it is possible that vitamin D deficiency would favor a lipid profile with higher TG, through a decreased production of lipoprotein lipase in the adipocyte. However, this theory of suppressed action of lipoprotein lipase seen in vitamin D deficiency does not explain the

positive association between serum 25(OH)D and LDL-C and HDL-C observed in this thesis. The study of Querfeld (1999) was made on cultured adipocytes, therefore could not account for the other interactions influencing the lipid synthesis and metabolism in-vivo. Therefore, the previously stated hypothesis between serum 25(OH)D concentration and lipids should be taken with caution.

This is a cross-sectional study; therefore, a causal effect cannot be proven. In this study, adjustment for the score of a healthy diet (DASH score) and other confounding factors age, sex, physical activity and body fat % did not explain the association between 25(OH)D with lipids. However, it is possible that the association between serum 25(OH)D concentration and lipids is due to other factors, for instance unmeasured dietary factors, such as EPA and DHA.

## Serum 25(OH)D concentration and HDL-C

Interestingly the children participating in the PANIC study had a positive association between serum 25(OH)D concentration and HDL-C, which is contradictory with what has been previously published in the literature. In their review, Dolinsky et al. (2012) found that, among the 14 cross-sectional studies made on serum 25(OH)D concentration and HDL-C, 13 showed a positive association between HDL-C and serum 25(OH)D concentration, and one, conducted by Kelishadi et al. (2014b), reported non-significant results.

It is possible that vitamin D deficiency (with normal or higher 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D) would influence the serum level of HDL-C, through an inhibition of lipolysis in the adipocytes. The 1,25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D, but not parathormone, inhibits lipolysis in human adipocytes, in vitro, through an increased entry of calcium into the cells (Zemel et al. 2000). Verghese et al. (2007) found that lipolysis is associated with a conversion and a flowing out of stored cholesterol into HDL-C. Therefore, vitamin D deficiency may contribute to a lower HDL-C, through decreased lipolysis. However, physical activity promotes lipolysis (Polak et al. 2008), and therefore may promote a liberation of HDL-C in blood flow. In a cross-sectional analysis from the same study, it was found that for an increased total physical activity level, there was a higher HDL-C, a lower LDL-C and lower TG (Väistö et al. 2014). However, in the present study, an inverse association between serum 25(OH)D concentration and HDL-C persisted even after adjustment for physical activity.

## 6.2.4 Serum 25(OH)D concentration and blood pressure

In this study, for a higher serum 25(OH)D concentration, there was a lower SBP, which remained after adjustment for possible confounders. This is congruent with previous studies in children (Xu et al 2017).  $1,25(OH)_2D_3$  may have a protective effect on blood pressure, and a possible mechanism for that is by a suppression of the renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system, as shown in an experiment with vitamin D receptor-knock-out mice, which became hypertensive (Li 2003). Vitamin D receptor also regulates vascular tone (Vaidya & Forman 2010), through the genomic activation of the endothelial nitric oxide synthase by Vitamin D receptor-bound vitamin D complex (Talmor et al. 2008), leading to a vasodilatory effect on the vascular system.

### 6.2.5 Serum 25(OH)D concentration and liver enzymes and markers of inflammation

Interestingly, the present study found that for a higher serum 25(OH)D concentration, there was a higher hs-CRP level, a higher ALT and a lower HDL. A previous publication on the same study population by Viitasalo et al. 2012, showed that systemic low-grade inflammation (hs-CRP), obesity, and low HDL-C was associated with a higher level of the liver enzymes, ALT and GGT (Viitasalo et al. 2012). Low-grade inflammation has a central role to play in the pathophysiology of MetS, and of CVD (Devaraj et al. 2009). It seems that in this thesis, serum 25(OH)D concentration is linked with a pro-inflammatory state characterized by higher hs-CRP and ALT, and lower HDL-C, which are also characteristics of the MetS. At least one other study found partly similar results (Ashraf et al. 2011). Ashraf et al (2011) found a positive association between serum 25(OH)D concentration and liver enzyme in children. The reasons for this finding are unclear and need further investigation. One possible explanation could be due to a common pathway for systemic inflammation, inflammation in the liver, and insulin resistance, which would be mediated by vitamin D or by other factors related to vitamin D. However, those findings do not explain why vitamin D had no effects on other components of the MetS like glucose metabolism and total fat body %, an estimate of visceral adiposity.

In this analysis, the reference cut-off value of hs-CRP for adults was chosen due to the lack of reference values for children. Therefore, those results should be interpreted with caution. Those results are also contrary to previous studies. For instance, Rai & Agrawal (2017) stated that vitamin D supplementation decreases inflammation and pro-inflammatory cytokines. Interestingly, in a cross-sectional British study of 4274 children with mean age of 9.9 years, Williams et al. (2012) found that serum 25(OH)D<sub>2</sub> concentration, but not serum 25(OH)D<sub>3</sub>

concentration, was associated with a pro-inflammatory state (Interleukine-6 and C-reactive protein). This present study did not distinguish between 25(OH)D<sub>2</sub> and 25(OH)D<sub>3</sub> in the analysis. In a previous publication by Soininen et al. 2016, 78.3% of vitamin D intake of the children participating in the PANIC study came from food fortified with vitamin D<sub>3</sub> (milk and milk products, fat), 10.1 % from fish products. The median amount of vitamin D<sub>3</sub> ingested from supplements was 0.36  $\mu$ g/d and from food, 5.9  $\mu$ g/d. Therefore, I assume that the serum 25(OH)D concentration of the PANIC study population most likely reflect 25(OH)D<sub>3</sub> status, which should have had a protective effect in inflammation. It is, therefore, unclear why our results diverge form the Williams et al. (2012) study. It is possible that the association between serum 25(OH)D concentration and inflammation may be due to other unmeasured confounding factors associated with dietary vitamin D sources, for instance fishor milk consumption.

## The effects of EPA, DHA, heavy metals and milk on inflammation

This thesis, although adjusting for many confounders, including age, sex, physical activity, quality of fat in diet, vitamin D intake, skin type, measures of sun exposure (travel to sunny locations, use of sunscreen, length of day), socioeconomic factors and body fat %, did not included in the analysis EPA, DHA or measurements of pollutants. This could be of clinical importance since omega 3 from fish- and plant consumption have been associated with decreased blood pressure and inflammation, with better lipid profile and with a decrease in progression of CVD in adults (Rodriguez Leyva et al.2010, Kris-Etherton et al. 2002). In children, Crowe-White et al. (2018) showed, in a cross-sectional study, that a higher omega 6:3 PUFA's ratio intake was associated with a lower TC and LDL-C, and a higher intake of omega 3 PUFA was associated with a higher HDL-C in children.

The serum level of mercury has been found to be proportional to the amount of fish ingested (Gump et al. 2012). In a cross-sectional study of 9-11-year-old children, the serum level of mercury, was associated with a systemic low-grade inflammation (Gump et al. 2012). EPA and DHA and vitamin D are found in liver of fatty fishes, and heavy metals, like mercury can be found in both fatty and non-fatty fishes, like pike (Karjalainen et al. 2013). Fetus and young children are even more sensitive to the neuro-, nephro and immunotoxic effects of methylmercury (Bose-O'Reilly et al. 2010). Therefore, fish consumption may have both pro-and anti-inflammatory effect, depending of the amount of the omega 3 and of pollutant contained in fish.

Milk consumption may be another confounder for the possible positive association between inflammation and serum 25(OH)D concentration. A previous publication of the same study population has shown that children having higher serum 25(OH)D concentration were also those who drank more milk (Soininen et al. 2016). A review of adults revealed that both fatty and non-fatty dairy products were associated with a pro-inflammatory state, but only in subjects with milk protein allergy (Bordoni et al. 2017). In the present study, the % of children having milk allergy was unknown, but most likely to be low in the Finnish school age children (Ruoka allergia (lapset),Suomalaisen Lääkäriseuran Duodecimin ja Lastenlääkärin yhdistys ry:n asettama työryhmä 2015). However, whole-milk consumption in pre-pubertal children may cause a shift in the growth hormone/insulin-like growth factor-1 axis; a factor associated in adults, with inflammatory and auto-immune diseases, like type 2 diabetes and CVD (Melnik 2009). Milk contains saturated fat, unless non-fat milk is used. The consumption of saturated fat has a pro-inflammatory effect (Fritsche 2015). In the present study, the ratio of unsaturated to saturated fat was taken into account in the backward stepwise analysis, and was not a significant confounder for hs-CRP nor ALT.

# 6.3 Limitations, strengths and further directions

## 6.3.1 Limitations of the study

A limitation of this thesis is that it did not include measurements of apolipoprotein B. Apolipoproteins B are transporters of LDL-C. Higher levels of apolipoprotein B, which are of smaller size, are involved into the formation of atherogenic depot in the vascular wall, leading to CVD. Apolipoproteins B are linked to vascular dysfunction, inflammation and a lipidogenic profile, and is considered to be a risk factor for CVD in children (Castro et al. 2018). It would have been interesting to know the relationship between vitamin D and apolipoprotein B in the present study. As mentioned earlier, this study did not included EPA, DHA and mercury level in the statistical analysis, which could have been useful in order to control for those confounding factors.

The results for hs-CRP in children should be interpreted with caution, since adult reference values were used, which were not yet validated for children. However, it seems that a higher serum 25(OH)D concentration is linked with a pro-inflammatory effect in this study

population of children. The reasons for this association need further investigation. The weakness of this study is that it is a cross-sectional, therefore causality cannot be proven. It is possible that the association between serum 25(OH)D concentration and cardiometabolic components may be due to other unknown variables.

# 6.3.2 Strengths of the study

The strengths of the study are that it is a well-designed study from a representative sample of a homogeneous population with a high participation rate and with a high number of children, ensuring a sufficient statistical power. The study included carefully collected data concerning diet, physical activity, measures of body fat % by the Lunar dual energy X-ray absorptiometry as well as biochemical analysis from fasting blood samples. The PANIC physical activity questionnaire has been reported to have good validity and long-term reproducibility to measure total amount of physical activity (Haapala et al. 2014).

The studied population consisted of mostly pre-pubertal children. This allowed the study of the specific role of serum 25(OH)D concentration on the CMR without the influence of puberty on glucose, lipid and bone metabolism.

The data collected made it possible to do a statistical analysis accounting for a wide range of confounders, including factors affecting the production of vitamin D, like sunscreen use, and measures of daytime light and the dietary intake of vitamin D. The dietary fat intake ratio was selected as a confounder, based on results from some previous literature, which showed that dietary fat affects serum lipids (Hodson et al. 2001, Institute of Medicine 2005, European Food Safety Authority 2010). In the present study, dietary fat intake ratio has been found to be a significant confounder in the multiple regression analysis for SBP (model 3).

Another strength is that it is one of the few studies made on children living in Nordic latitudes. Therefore, it gives specific information on how the serum 25(OH)D concentration affect the cardiometabolic health of children living at the 62°64`N.

## **6.3.3 Further directions**

In Finland, sunlight is inadequate for vitamin D synthesis in the skin approximately half of the year (Wacker & Holick 2013). Children participating to PANIC study had lower risk for low 25(OH)D after summer in autumn, and when daylight time was >13h/d (Soininen et al. 2016). From October to March, children rely on dietary source of vitamin D to maintain

vitamin D sufficiency. Therefore, the results of the present study may reflect more the effects of dietary vitamin D rather than vitamin D synthesis through effect of sun on the CMR. It is theoretically possible that the source of vitamin D (dietary or skin synthesis) affect the lipid and glucose metabolism and inflammation in different ways. The results of this present study may be valuable for further research aiming to assess those issues. For instance, it would be interesting to pursue randomized control trials, regarding the effect of supplementation of vitamin D on the CMR in children in a sun-deprived environment.

Soininen et al. (2018) recently analyzed genetic data from this population sample and found that some of the gene variants that have been previously associated with 25(OH)D were associated with TC and LDL-C, and HDL independently of serum 25(OH)D concentration. A recently published study of the same project showed, that serum 25(OH)D concentration was associated with TC, LDL-C and HDL, independently of the gene variants (Soininen et al. 2018). This finding is interesting and also needs further investigation.

Also, it would be interesting to see if including the consummation of fish, EPA, DHA and mercury as confounders would affect the results on lipids and inflammation in this present study.

## 7. CONCLUSION

This study presents interesting and controversial results regarding the association of serum 25(OH)D concentration and CMR in children. Serum 25(OH)D concentration was associated with some, but not all, components of CMR in children. Serum 25(OH)D seems to have a protective role in some components of CMR, such as SBP, TC and LDL-C, but a detrimental role in other components such as liver enzyme, HDL-C and some markers of inflammation. Some hypotheses have been stated to explain the possible divergent results. However, randomized-controlled trials are needed to prove a causal role of serum 25(OH)D and the components of CMR in children.

The results of this thesis bring additional information in favor of a possible association between serum 25(OH)D and lipid profile, blood pressure and inflammation. However, the results of this cross-sectional study should be taken with caution, because it was not possible to control for all possible confounders, and because causality cannot be proven. This thesis is a step forward into the process of improving children's health in a Nordic population at risk of vitamin D deficiency. Indeed, if vitamin D sufficiency could promote both skeletal and cardiovascular benefits, we could prevent the development of bone and cardiometabolic diseases, starting already from childhood. It would be of huge public health impact to prevent diseases at their source.

### 8. REFERENCES

Alberti SG, Zimmet P, Shaw J. Metabolic Syndrome\_ a New World-wide Definition. A Concensus Statement from the International Diabetes Federation. Diabetic Med 2006a;23(5):469-480.

Alberti SG, Zimmet P, Shaw J, Grundy SM. International Diabetes Federation: The IDF Consensus Worldwide Definition of the Metabolic Syndrome in Children and Adolescents, 2006b; 24 pages. http://www.idf.org/metabolic-syndrome. Internet site visited on 29.10.2017.

Alemzadeh R, Kichler J, Babar G, Calhoun M. Hypovitaminosis D in Obese Children and Adolescents: Relationship with Adiposity, Insulin Sensitivity, Ethnicity and Season. Metabolism 2008; 57:183-191.

Al-Daghri NM, Al-Attas O, Yakout S, Aljohani N, Al-Fawaz H, Alokail MS. Dietary Products Consumption in Relation to Serum 25-Hydroxyvitamin D and Selenium Level in Saudi Children and Adults. Int J Clin Exp Med 2015;8(1):1305-1314.

Alshahrani F, Aljohani N. Vitamin D: Deficiency, Sufficiency and Toxicity. Nutrients 2013;5:3605-3616.

Andiran N, Çelik N, Akca H, Dogan G. Vitamin D Deficiency in Children and Adolescents. J Clin Res Pediatr Endocrinol 2012;4(1):25-29.

Armas LA, Hollis BW, Heaney RP. Vitamin  $D_2$  Is Much Less Effective than Vitamin  $D_3$  in Humans. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2004; 89(11):5387-5391.

Ashraf AP, Alvarez JA, Gower BA, Saenz KH, McCormick KL. Associations of Serum 25-Hydroxyvitamin D and Components of the Metabolic Syndrome in Obese Adolescent Females. Obesity 2011;19:2214-2221.

Aypak C, Türedi Ö, Yüce A. The Association of Vitamin D Status with Cardiometabolic Risk Factors, Obesity and Puberty in Children. Eur J Pediatr 2014;173:367-373.

Baker CP, Kulkarni B, Radhakrishna KV, Charyulu MS, Gregson J, Matsuzaki M, et al. Is the Association between Vitamin D and Cardiovacular Disease Risk Confounded by Obesity?

Evidence from the Andhra Pradesh Children and Parents Study (APCAPS). PLoS ONE 2015; 10(6):e0129468 (p.1-11).

Barchetta I, Cimini FA, Cavallo MG. Vitamin D Supplementation and Non-Alcoholic Fatty LIver Disease: Present and Future. Nutrients 2017;9:1015(p.1-9).

Belenchia AM, Tosh AK, Hillman LS, Peterson CA. Correcting Vitamin D Insufficiency Improves Insulin Sensitivity in Obese Adolescents: a Randomized Controlled Trial. Am J Clin Nutr 2013;97:774-781.

Berenson GS, Srinivasan SR, Bao W, Newman III WP, Tracy R, Wattigney WA. Association between Multiple Cardiovascular Risk Factors and Atherosclerosis in Children and Young Adults. N Engl J Med 1998; 338(23):1650-1656.

Bikle DD, Oda Y, Tu C-L, Jiang Y. Novel Mechanisms for the Vitamin D Receptor in the Skin and in Skin Cancer. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 2015;148:47-51.

Birken CS, Lebovic G, Anderson LN, McCrindle BW, Mamdani M, Kandasamy S, Khovratovich M, Parkin PC, Maguire JL. Association between Vitamin D and Circulating Lipids in Early Childhood. PLoS ONE 2015;10(7):e0131938 (p.1-10).

Bischoff-Ferrari HA, Giovannucci E, Willett WC, Dietrich T, Dawson-Hughes B. Estimation of Optimal Serum Concentrations of 25-hydroxyvitamin D for Multiple Health Outcomes. Am J Clin Nutr 2006;84:18–28.

Bjelakovic G, Gluud LL, Nikolova D, Whitfield K, Wetterslev J, Simonetti RG, Bjelakovic M, Gluud C. Vitamin D Supplementation for Prevention of Mortality in Adults. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2014;1:CD007470 (p.1-254).

Bordoni A, Danesi F, Dardevet D, Dupont D, Fernandez AS, Gille D, Nunes dos Santos C, Pinto P, Re R, Rémond D, Shahar DR, Vergères G. Dairy Products and inflammation: A Review of the Clinical Evidence. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr 2017;57(12):2497-2525.

Bose-O'Reilly S, McCarty KM, Steckling N, Lettmeier B. Mercury Exposure and Children's Health. Curr Probl Pediatr Adolesc Health Care 2010;40(8):186–215.

Braegger C, campoy C, Colomb V, Decsi T, Domellof M, Fewtrell M, Hojsak I, Mihatsch W, Molgaard C, Shamir R, Turck D, van Goudoever J, on Behalf of the ESPHGAN Committee on Nutrition. Consensus Statement. Vitamin D in the Healthy European Paediatric Population. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 2013;56:692-701.

Brumbaugh PF, Haussler MR. 1a25-dihydroxycholecalciferol receptors in intestine. I. Association of 1-alfa,25-Dihydroxycholecalciferol with Intestinal Mucosa Chromatin. J Biol Chem 1974;249(4):1251-1257.

Cabral M, Araújo J, Teixeira J, Barros H, Martins S, Guimarães JT, Lopes C, Ramos E. Vitamin D Levels and Cardiometabolic Risk Factors in Portuguese Adolescents. Int J Cardiol 2016;220:501-507.

Cantorna MT, Mahon BD. D-hormone and the Immune System. J Rheumatol 2005; supp.76:11-20.

Carlberg C. Genome-wide (Over)view on the Actions of Vitamin D. Front Physiol 2014a;5,167:1-10.

Carlberg C. The Physiology of Vitamin D-Far More than Calcium and Bone. Front Physiol 2014b; 5, 335:1-2.

Carlberg C, Molnár F. Vitamin D Receptor Signaling and its Therapeutic Implications: Genome-wide and Structural View. Can J Physiol Pharmacol 2015;93:311-318.

Carlberg C. Molecular Approaches for Optimizing Vitamin D Supplementation. In book: Gerald Litwack (ed.). Vitamins and Hormones. Volume 100. Vitamin D Hormone. Cambridge: Academic Press 2016, p.255-271.

Carlberg C, Ulven SM, Molnár F. Nutrigenomics. Switzerland: Springer International Publishing 2016.

Castro APP, Hermsdorff HH, Milagres LC, de Albuquerque FM, Filgeuiras MDS, Rocha NP, de Novaes JF. Increased ApoB/ApoA1 Ratio is Associated with Excess Weight, Body Adiposity, and Altered Lipid Profile in Children. J Pediatr (Rio J) 2018;1-9 (in press).

Cediel G, Corvalán C, Aguirre C, de Romaña DL, Uauy R. Serum 25-Hydroxyvitamin D Associated with Indicators of Body Fat and Insulin Resistance in Prepubertal Chilean Children. Int J Obesity 2016;40:147-152.

Cheng S, Tylavsky F, Kröger H, Kärkkäinen M, Lyytikäinen A, Koistinen A, Mahonen A, Alen M, Halleen J, Väänänen K, Lamberg-Allardt C. Association of Low 25-Hydroxyvitamin D Concentrations with Elevated Parathyroid Hormone Concentrations and Low Cortical Bone Density in Early Pubertal and Prepubertal Finnish girls. Am J Clin Nutr 2003;78:485-492.

Cross HS, Bareis P, Hofer H, Bischof MG, Bajna E, Kriwanek S, Bonner E, Peterlik M. 25-Hydroxyvitamin D-3-1 Alpha-hydroxylase and Vitamin D Receptor Gene Expression in Human Colonic Mucosa is elevated during Early Cancerogenesis. Steroids 2001;66 (3-5):287-292.

Crowe-White KM, Cardel MI, Burkhalter HH, Huo T, Fernández JR. Higher n–6:n–3 Fatty Acid Intake Is Associated with Decreased Cardiometabolic Risk Factors in a Racially Diverse Sample of Children. Curr Dev Nutr 2018;2:nzy014 (p.1-6).

Delisle Nyström C, Henriksson P, Martínez-Vizcaíno V, Medrano M, Cadenas-Sanchez C, Arias-Palencia NM, Löf M, Ruiz JR, Labayen I, Sánchez-López M, Ortega FB. Does Cardiorespiratory Fitness Attenuate the Adverse Effects of Severe/Morbid Obesity on Cardiometabolic Risk and Insulin Resistance in Children? A Pooled Analysis. Diabetes Care 2017;40(11):1580-1587.

Della Corte, C.; Carpino, G.; De Vito, R.; De Stefanis, C.; Alisi, A.; Cianfarani, S.; Overi, D.;
Mosca, A., Stronati, L., Cucchiara, S., Raponi M, Gaudio E, Byrne CD, Nobili V.
Docosahexanoic Acid Plus Vitamin D Treatment Improves Features of
NAFLD in Children with Serum Vitamin D Deficiency: Results from a Single Centre Trial.
PLoS ONE 2016;11:e0168216 (p.1-17).

DeLuca HF, History of the Discovery of Vitamin D and its Active Metabolites. BoneKEy Rep 2014;3:1-8.

Delvin EE, Lambert M, Levy E, O'Loughlin J, Mark S, Gray-Donald K, Paradis G. Vitamin D Status is Modestly Associated with Glycemia and Indicators of Lipid Metabolism in French-Canadian Children and Adolescents. J Nutr 2010;140:987-991.

Devaraj S, Singh U, Jiabal I. Human C-reactive Protein and the Metabolic Syndrome. Curr Opin Lipidol 2009;20(3):182-189.

Dolinsky DH, Armstrong S, Mangarelli C, Kemper AR. The Association Between Vitamin D and Cardiometabolic Risk Factors in Children: A Systematic Review. Clin Pediatr 2012;52(3):210-223.

Dong Y, Stallmann-Jorgensen IS, Pollock NK, Harris RA, Keeton D, Huang Y, Li K, Bassali R, Guo D, Thomas J, Pierce GL, White J, Holick MF, Zhu H. A 16-Week Randomized Clinical Trial of 2000 International Units Daily Vitamin D<sub>3</sub> Supplementation in Black Youth: 25-Hydroxyvitamin D, Adiposity, and Arterial Stiffness. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2010; 95(19):4584-4591.

Duncan GE, Li Sm, Zhou XH. Prevalence and Trends of a Metabolic Syndrome Phenotype among U.S. Adolescents, 1999-2000. Diabetes Care 2004;27(10):2438-43.

Eloranta AM, Lindi V, Schwab U, Kiiskinen S, Kalinkin M, Lakka HM, Lakka TA. Dietary Factors and their Associations with Socioeconomic Background in Finnish Girls and Boys 6– 8 Years of Age: the PANIC Study. Eur J Clin Nutr 2011;65:1211–1218.

Eloranta AM, Schwab U, Venäläinen T, Kiiskinen S, Lakka HM, Laaksonen DE, Lakka TA, Lindi V. Dietary Quality Indices in Relation to Cardiometabolic Risk among Finnish Children Aged 6-8 years- The PANIC Study. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis 2016;26:833-841.

Erdönmez D, Hatun <u>§</u>. Çizmecioğlu FM, Keser A. No Relationship between Vitamin D Status and Insulin Resistance in a Group of High School Students. J Clin Res Pediatr Endocrinol 2011;3(4):198-201.

European Food Safety Authority Panel on Dietetic Products, Nutrition, and Allergies (NDA). Scientific Opinion on Dietary Reference Values for Fats, Including Saturated Fatty Acids, Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids, Monounsaturated Fatty Acids, Trans Fatty Acids, and Cholesterol. EFSA J. 2010;8(3):1461, pages 1-107. Available at http://efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/doc/1461.pdf (site accessed on 24.2.2018).

Fitzpatrick TB. The Validity and Practicality of Sun-reactive Skin Types I through VI. Arch Dermatol 1988;124(6):869-871. (Abstract)

Fritsche KL. The Science of Fatty Acids and Inflammation. American Society for Nutrition. Adv Nutr 2015;6:293S–301S.

Ford ES, Zhao G, Tsai J, Li C. Associations Between Concentrations of Vitamin D and Concentrations of Insulin, Glucose, and HbA1c Among Adolescents in the United States. Diabetes Care 2011;34:646-648.

Ganji V, Zhang X, Shaikh N, Tangpricha V. Serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D Concentrations Are Associated with Prevalence of Metabolic Syndrome and Various Cardiometabolic Risk Factors in US Children and Adolescents based on Assay-adjusted Serum 25-Hydroxyvitamin D Data from NHANES 2001-2006. Am J Clin Nutr 2011;94:225-233.

Garland CF, Kim JJ, Mohr SB, Gorham ED, Grant WB, Giovannucci EL, Baggerly L, Hofflich H, Ramsdell JW, Zeng K, Heaney RP. Meta-analysis of All-Cause Mortality According to Serum 25-Hydroxyvitamin D. Am J Public Health 2014;104(8):e43-e50.

Gombard AF. The Vitamin D-Antimicrobial Peptide Pathway and its Role against Protection against Infection. Future Microbiol 2009;4:1-22.

Gordon CM, DePeter KC, Feldman HA, Grace E, Emans J. Prevalence of Vitamin D Deficiency among Healthy Adolescents. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med 2004;158(6):531-537.

Gump BB, MacKenzie JA, Dumas AK, Palmer CD, Parsons PJ, Segu ZM, Mechref YS, Bendinskas KG. Fish Consumption, Low-level Mercury, Lipids and Inflammatory Markers in Children. Environ Res 2012;112:204-211.

Gupta A, Bush A, Hawrylowicz C, Saglani S. CME Review: Vitamin D and Asthma in Children. Peadiatr Respir Rev 2012;13:236-243.

Haapala EA, Poikkeus A-M, Tompuri T, Kukkonen-Harjula K, Leppänen PHT, Lindi V, Lakka TA. Associations of Motor and Cardiovascular Performance with Academic Skills in Children. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2014;46:1016–1024.

Hannon TS, Janosky J, Arslanian SA. Longitudinal Study of Physiologic Insulin Resistance and Metabolic Changes of Puberty. Pediatr Res 2006;60(6):759-763.

Harel Z, Flanagan P, Forcier M, Harel D. Low Vitamin D status Among Obese Adolescents: Prevalence and Response to Treatment. J Adolesc Health 2011;48:448-452.

Hassan NE, El-Masry SA, El Banna R, Abu Shady MM, Al-Tohamy M, Mouhammed Ali M, Abd El-Moniem MM, Anwar M. 25-Dydroxy Vitamin D, Adiponectin Levels and Cardiometabolic Risk Factors in a Sample of Obese Children. Maced J Med Sci 2014;2(4):562-566.

Hazell TJ, Gallo S, Vanstone CA, Agellon S, Rodd C, Weiler HA. Vitamin D Supplementation Trial in Infancy: Body Composition Effects at 3 Years of Age in a Prospective Follow-up Study from Montréal. Pediatr Obes 2017;12(1):38-47.

Heaney RP, Dowell MS, Hale CA, Bendic A. Calcium Absorption Varies within the Reference Range for Serum 25-Hydroxyvitamin D. J Am Coll Nutr 2003;22(2):142-146.

Hodson L, Skeaffl CM, Chisholm W-AH. The Effect of Replacing Dietary Saturated Fat with Polyunsaturated or Monounsaturated Fat on Plasma Lipids in Free-living Young Adults. Eur J Clin Nutr 2001;55:908–915.

Hoffmann MR, Senior PA, Mager DR. Vitamin D Supplementation and Health-related Quality of Life: A Systematic Review of Literature. J Acad Nutr Diet 2015;115(3):406-18.

Holick MF. Vitamin D: The Underappreciated D-lightful Hormone that is Important for Skeletal and Cellular Health. Curr Opin Endocrinol Diabetes 2002;9:87-98.

Holick MF. Vitamin D: A Millenium Perspective. J Cell Biochem 2003;88:296-307.

Holick MF. Vitamin D Deficiency. N Engl J Med 2007a;357:266-281.

Holick MF, Chen TC, Lu Z, Sauter E. Vitamin D and Skin Physiology: A D-Lightful Story. J Bone Miner Res 2007b;22(supp2):V28-V33.

Holick MF, Chen TC. Vitamin D Deficiency: a Worldwide Problem with Health Consequences. Am J Clin Nutr 2008;87(suppl):1080S-1086S.

Holick MF. Vitamin D: A D-Lightful Solution for Health. J Investig Med 2011a;59(6):872-880.

Holick MF, Binkley NC, Bischoff-Ferrari HA, Gordon CM, Hanley DA, Heaney RP, Murad MH, Weaver CM. Evaluation, Treatment, and Prevention of Vitamin D Deficiency: An Endocrine Society Clinical Practice Guideline. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2011b;96(7):1911-1930.

Hossein-Nezhad A, Spira A, Holick MF. Influence of Vitamin D Status and Vitamin D3 Supplementation on Genome Wide Expression of White Blood Cells: A Randomized Double-Blind Clinical Trial. PLOS one 2013;8(13), e5872:1-13.

Hyppönen E, Läärä E, Reunanen A, Järvelin M-R, Virtanen S. Intake of Vitamin D and Risk of Type 1 Diabetes: a Birth-Cohort Study. Lancet 2001;358:1500-1503.

Institute of Medicine. Dietary fats: total fat and fatty acids. In Dietary Reference Intakes for Energy, Carbohydrate, Fiber, Fat, Fatty Acids, Cholesterol, Protein, and Amino Acids (Macronutrients). Washington D.C: National Academies Press 2005.

Institute of Medicine. Dietary Reference Intakes for Calcium and Vitamin D. Committee to Review Dietary Reference Intakes for Calcium and Vitamin D. Washington.D.C: National Academies Press 2011.

Jablonski KL, Chonchol M, Pierce GL, Walker AE, Seals DR. 25-Hydroxyvitamin D Deficiency is Associated with Inflammation-Linked Vascular Endothelial Dysfunction in Middle-Aged and Older Adults. Hypertension 2011;57:63-69.

Jang HB, Lee H-J, Park JY, Kang J-H, Song J. Association Between Serum Vitamin D and Metabolic Risk Factors in Korean Schoolgirls. Osong Public Health Res Perspect 2013;4(4):179-186. Jeong HY, Park KM, Lee MJ, Yang DH, Kim SH, Lee S-Y. Vitamin D and Hypertention. Electrolyte Blood Press 2017;15:1-11.

Jiménez-Pavón D, Ruiz JR, Ortega FB, Martínez-Gómez,D, Moreno S, Urzanqui A, Gottrand F, Molnár D, Castillo MJ, Sjöström M, Moreno LA on behalf of the HELNA Study group. Physical Activity and Markers of Insulin Resistance in Adolescents: Role of Cardiorespiratory Fitness Levels-the HELENA study. Pediatr Diabetes 2013;14:249-258.

Johnson MD, Nader NS, Weaver AL, Singh R, Kumar S. Relationships between 25-Hydroxyvitamin D Levels and Plasma Glucose and Lipid Levels in Pediatric Outpatients. J Pediatr 2010;156:444-449.

Jones G, Prosser DE, Kaufmann M. 25-Hydroxyvitamin D-24-hydroxylase (CYP24A1): Its Important Role in the Degradation of Vitamin D. Arch Biochem Biophys 2012;523:9-18.

Jorde R, Grimnes G. Vitamin D and Metabolic Health with Special Reference to the effect of Vitamin D on Serum Lipids. Prog Lipid Res 2011;50:303-312.

Kao K-T, Abidi N, Ranasinha S, Brown J, Rodda C, McCallum Z, Zacharin M, Simm PJ, Magnussen CG, Sabin MA. Low Vitamin D is Associated with Hypertension in Peadiatric Obesity. J Paediatr Child Health. 2015;51:1207-1213.

Kardas F, Kendirci M, Kurtoglu S. Cardiometabolic Risk Factors Related to Vitamin D and Adiponectin in Obese Children and Adolescents. Int J Endocrinol 2013;2013:503270 (p.1-5).

Karjalainen AK, Hallikainen A, Hirvonen T, Kiviranta H, Knip M, Kronberg-Kippilä C, Leino O, Simell O, Sinkko H, Tuomisto JT, Veijola R, Venäläinen E-R, Virtanen SM. Estimated Intake Levels for Finnish Children of Methylmercury from Fish. Food Chem Toxicol 2013;54:70-77.

Kelishadi R, Farajzadegan Z, Bahreynian M. Association between Vitamin D Status and Lipid Profile in Children and Adolescents: a Systemic Review and Meta-Analysis. Int J Food Sci Nutr 2014a;65(4):404-410.

Kelishadi R, Salek S, Salek M, Hashemipour, Movahedian M. Effects of Vitamin D Supplementation on Insulin Resistance and Cardiometabolic Risk Factors in Children with Metabolic Syndrome: A Triple-masked Controlled Trial. J Pediatr (Rio J) 2014b; 90:28-34. Kelly A, Brooks LJ, Dougherty S, Carlow DC, Zemel BS. A Cross-Sectional Study of Vitamin D and Insulin Resistance in Children. Arch Dis Child 2011;96:447-452.

Kennel KA, Drake MT, Hurley DL. Vitamin D Deficiency in Adults: When to Test and How to Treat. Mayo Clin Proc 2010;85(8):752-758.

Kouda K, Nakamura H, Fujita Y, Ohara K, Iki M. Vitamin D status and body fat measured by dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry in a general population of Japanese children. Nutrition 2013;29:1204-1208.

Kris-Etherton PM, Harris WS, Appel LJ. Fish Consumption, Fish Oil, Omega-3 Fatty Acids, and Cardiovascular Disease. Circulation 2002;106:2747-2757.

Kumar R, Thompson JR, The Regulation of Parathyroid Hormone Secretion and Synthesis. J Am Soc Nephrol 2011;22:216–224.

Kwon JH, Lee SE, Lee HA, Kim YJ, Lee HY, Gwak HS, Park EA, Cho SH, Oh SY, Ha EH, Park H, Kim HS. Relationship of Serum 25-Hydroxyvitamin D (25(OH)D) Levels and Components of Metabolic Syndrome in Prepubertal Children. Nutrition 2015;31:1324-1327.

Lamberg-Allardt C, Brustad M, Meyer HE, Steingrimsdottir L. Vitamin D a systematic literature – review for the 5th edition of the Nordic Nutrition Recommendations. Food Nutr Res 2013;57:22671 (p.1-31).

Lampinen E-K, Eloranta A-M, Haapala EA, Lindi V, Väistö J, Lintu N, Karjalainen P, Kukkonen-Harjula K, Laaksonen D, Lakka TA. Physical Activity, Sedentary Behaviour, and Socioeconomic Status among Finnish Girls and Boys Aged 6-8 Years. Eur J Sport Sci 2017;17(4):462-472.

Lee SH, Kim SM, Park HS, Choi KM, Cho GJ, Ko BJ, Kim JH. Serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D Levels, Obesity and the Metabolic Syndrome among Korean Children. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis 2012;23:785-791.

Li YC. Vitamin D Regulation of the Renin-angiotensin System. J Cell Biochem 2003;88:327–331.

Marshall WA, Tanner JM. Variations in Pattern of Pubertal Changes in Girls. Arch Dis Child 1969;44 291-303.

Marshall WA, Tanner JM. Variations in the pattern of pubertal changes in boys. Arch Dis Child 1970;45:13-23.

Martini LA, Wood RJ. Vitamin D Status and Metabolic Syndrome. Nutr Rev 2006; 64(11):479-486.

Matikainen N. Hyperkalsemia. Duodecim 2014;130(14):1404-1412.

McCullough ML, Bostick RM, Mayo TL. Vitamin D Gene Pathway Polymorphisms and Risk of Colorectal, Breast and Prostate Cancer. Annu Rev Nutr 2009;29:111-132.

Melka MG, Abrahamowicz M, Leonard GT, Perron M, Richer L, Veillette S, Gaudet D, Paus T, Pausova Z. Clustering of the Metabolic Syndrome Components in Adolescence: Role of Visceral Fat. PLoS ONE 2013;8(12):e82368 (p.1-7).

Melnik BC, Milk – The Promoter of Chronic Western Diseases. Med Hypotheses 2009;72(6):631-639.

Miersch A, Vogel M, Gausche R, Gausche R, Siekmeyer W, Pfäffle R, Dittrich K, Kiess W. Influence of Seasonal Variation on Blood Pressure Measurements in Children, Adolescents and Young Adults. Pediatr Nephrol 2013;28:2343–2349.

Misra M, Pacaud D, Petryk A, Collett-Solberg PF, Kappy M. Vitamin D Deficiency in Children and Its Management: Review of Current Knowledge and Recommendations. Pediatrics 2008;122:398-417.

Moreira C, Moreira P, Abreu S, Santos PC, Moreira-Silva I, Póvoas S, Mota J, Santos R. Vitamin D Intake and Cardiometabolic Risk Factors in Adolescents. Metab Syndr Relat Disord 2014;12(3):171-177.

Morisson JA, Friedman LA, Gray-McGuire. Metabolic Syndrome in Childhood Predicts Adults Cardiovascular Disease 25 Years Later: The Princeton Lipid Research Clinics Followup Study. Pediatrics 2007;120(2):340-345. Morris HA, Anderson PH. Autocrine and Paracrine Actions of Vitamin D. Clin Biochem Rev 2010;31:129-138.

Munns CF, Shaw N, Kielv M, Specker BL, Thacher TD, Ozono K, Michigami T, Tiosano D, Mughal MZ, Mäkitie O, Ramos-Abad L, Ward L, DiMeglio LA, Atapattu N, Cassinelli H, Braegger C, Pettifor JM, Seth A, Idris HW, Bhatia V, Fu J, Goldberg G, Sävendahl L, Khadgawat R, Pludowski P, Maddock J, Hyppönen E, Oduwole A, Frew E, Aguiar M, Tulchinsky T, Butler G, Högler W. Global Consensus Recommendations on Prevention and Management of Nutritional Rickets. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2016;101(2):394-4115.

Musson P, Collin J. Management of Vitamin D Deficiency in Childhood and Adolescence. Nurs Child Young People 2015;27(9):27-35.

Nam GE, Kim DH, Cho KH, Park YG, Han KD, Kim SM, Lee SH, Ko BJ, Kim MJ. 25-Hydroxyvitamin D Insufficiency is Associated with Cardiometabolic Risk in Korean Adolescents: the 2008-2009 Korea National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (KNHANES). Public Health Nutr 2012;17(1):186-194.

National Institutes of Health. Your Guide to Lowering Your Blood Pressure with DASH. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. National Heart, Lung and Blood Institute 2006. NIH Publication no.06-4082. Available at https://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/files/docs/public/heart/new\_dash.pdf (site accessed on 23.10.2018).

Netter FH, The Ciba collection of medical illustrations. Vol. 8 Part 1, Musculoskeletal System: Anatomy, Physiology, and Metabolic Disorders. CIBA cop. 1987.

Nobili V, Giorgio V, Liccardo D, Bedogni G, Morino G, Alisi A, Cianfarani S. Vitamin D Levels and Liver Histological Alterations in Children with Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease. Eur J Endocrinol 2014;170:547-553.

Nobili V, Giorgio V, Liccardo D, Bedogni G, Morino G, Alisi A, Cianfarani S. Vitamin D Levels and Liver Histological Alterations in Children with Nonalcoholic Fatty Liver Disease. Eur J Endocrinol 2014;170(4):547-553. Nordic Nutrition Recommendations 2012, Integrating Nutrition and Physical Activity. Copenhagen: Nordic Council of Ministers, Narayana Press 2014.

Nwosu BU, Maranda L, Cullen K, Ciccarelli C, Lee MM. Vitamin D Status is Associated with Early Markers of Cardiovascular Disease in Prepubertal Children. J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab 2013;26(11-12):1067-1075.

Oliveira RMS, Novaes JF, Azeredo L, Cândido PC, Leite ICG. Association of Vitamin D Insufficiency with Adiposity and Metabolic Disorders in Brazilian Adolescents. Public Health Nutr 2013;17(4):787-794.

Pacifico L, Anania C, Osborn JF, Ferraro F, Bonci E, Olivero E, Chiesa C. Low 25(OH)D3 levels are Associated with Total Adiposity, Metabolic Syndrome, and Hypertension in Caucasian Children and Adolescents. Eur J Endocrinol 2011;165:603-611.

Palacios C, Gonzalez L. Is Vitamin D Deficiency a Major Global Public Health Problem? J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 2014;144:138-145.

Parker J, Hashmi O, Dutton D, Mavrodaris A, Stranges S, Kandala N-B, Clarke A, Franco OH. Levels of Vitamin D and Cardiometabolic Disorders: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Maturitas 2010;65:225-236.

Petersen RA, Dalskov S-M, Sørensen LB, Hjorth MF, Andersen R, Tetens I, Krarup H, Ritz C, Astrup A, Michaelsen KF, Mølgaard C, Damsgaard CT. Vitamin D Status Is Associated with Cardiometabolic Markers in 8-11-year-old Children, Independently of Body Fat and Physical Activity. Br J Nutr 2015;114(10):1647-1655.

Pils S, Tomaschitz A, Ritz E, Pieber TR. Vitamin D Status and Arterial Hypertension: a Systematic Review. Nat Rev Cardiol 2009; 6:621-630.

Pittas AG, Chung M, Trikalinos T, Mitri J, Brendel M, Patel K, Lichtenstein AH, Lau J, Balk EM. Vitamin D and Cardiometabolic Outcomes: A Systematic Review. Ann Intern Med 2010;152(5):307–314.

Polak J, Bajzova M, Stich V. Effect of Exercise on Lipolysis in Adipose Tissue. Future Lipidol 2008;3(5):557-572.

Poomthavorn P, Saowan S, Mahachoklertwattana P, Chailurkit L, Khlairit P. Vitamin D Status and Glucose Homeostasis in Obese Children and Adolescents Living in the Tropics. Int J Obesity 2012;36:491-495.

Prasad P, Koshhar A. Interplay of vitamin D and Metabolic Syndrome: A review. Diabetes Metab Syndr 2016;10:105-112.

Querfeld U, Hoffmann MM, Klaus G, Eifinger F, Ackerschott M, Michalk D, Kern PA. Antagonistic Effects of Vitamin D and Parathyroid Hormone on Lipoprotein Lipase in Cultured Adipocytes. J Am Soc Nephrol 1999;10:2158-2164.

Radhakishun N, van Rosenstiel I, Weijer O, Diamant M, Beijnen J, Brandjes D. High Prevalence of Vitamin D Insufficiency/deficiency in Dutch Multi-Ethnic Obese Children. Eur J Pediatr 2015;174:183-190.

Rai V, Agrawal DK. Role of Vitamin D in Cardiovascular Diseases. Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am 2017;46(4):1039-1059.

Raitakari OT, Juonala M, Kähönen M, Taittonen L, Laitinen T, Mäki-Torkko N, Järvisalo MJ, Uhari M, Jokinen E, Rönnnemaa T, Åkerblom HK, Viikari JSA. Cardiovascular Risk Factors in Childhood and Carotid Artery Intima-Media Thickness in Adulthood. The Cardiovascular Risk in Young Finns Study. JAMA 2003;290(17):2277-2283.

Ramagopalan SV, Heger A, Berlanga AJ, Maugeri NJ, Lincoln MR, Burrell A, Handunnetthi L, Handel AE, Disanto G, Orton S-M, Watson CT, Morahan JM, Giovannoni G, Ponting CP, Ebers GC, Knight JC. A ChIP-seq Defined Genome-wide Map of Vitamin D Receptor Binding: Associations with Disease and Evolution. Gen Res 2010;20:1352–1360.

Rajakumar K. Vitamin D, Cod-Liver Oil, Sunlight, and Rickets: a Historical Perspective. Pediatrics 2003;112(2):e132-135.

Rajakumar K, de las Heras J, Chen TC, Lee S, Holick MF, Arslanian SA. Vitamin D Status, Adiposity, and Lipids in Black American and Caucasian Children. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2011;96(5):1560-1567.

Reis JP, von Mühlen D, Miller III ER, Michos ED, Appel LJ. Vitamin D Status and Cardiometabolic Risk Factors in the United States Adolescent Population. Pediatrics 2009;124(3):e371-e379.

Riverin B, Dewailly E, Côté S. Johnson-Down L, Morin S, Dodin S. Prevalence of Vitamin D Insufficiency in Healthy School-Age Cree Children. Peadiatr Child Health 2014;19(1):e15-e19.

Rodriguez-Leyva D, Bassett CMC, McCullough R, Pierce GN. The Cardiovascular Effects of Flaxseed and its Omega-3 Fatty Acid, Apha-Linolenic Acid. Can J Cardiol 2010;26(9):489-496.

Rodríguez-Rodríguez E, Ortega RM, González-Rodríguez LG, López-Sobaler AM. Vitamin D Deficiency is an Independent Predictor of Elevated Triglycerides in Spanish School Children. Eur J Nutr 2011;50:373-378.

Rokholm B, Baker JL, Sorensen TIA. The Leveling Off of the Obesity Epidemic since the Year 1999-a Review of Evidence and Perspectives. Obes Rev 2010;11(12):835-846.

Ruan HF, Lodisha B. Insulin Resistance in Adipose Tissue: Direct and Indirect Effects of Tumor Necrosis Factor-alfa. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 2003;14 (5):447–455.

Ruoka-allergia (lapset). Käypä hoito -suositus. Suomalaisen Lääkäriseuran Duodecimin ja Suomen Lastenlääkäriyhdistys ry:n asettama työryhmä. Helsinki: Suomalainen Lääkäriseura Duodecim, 2015. Available at <u>www.kaypahoito.fi</u> (site accessed on 22.10.2018).

Saelens B, Seeley RJ, van Schaick K, Donnelly LF, O'Brien KJ. Viseceral Abdominal Fat is Correlated with Whole-body Fat and Physical Activity among 8-Years-Old Children at Risk of Obesity. Am J Clin Nutr 2007;85(1): 46-53.

Saksa N, Neme A, Ryynänen J, Uusitupa M, de Mello VDF, Voutilainen S, Nurmi T, Virtanen JK, Tuomainen T-P, Carlberg C. Dissecting High from Low Responders in a Vitamin D<sub>3</sub> Intervention Study. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 2015;148:275-282.

Schwartz GG, Whitlatch LW, Chen TC, Lokeshwar BL, Holick MF. Human Prostate Cells Synthesize 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 from 25-hydroxyvitamin D3. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prevent 1998;7(5):391-395. Shafiee F, Kelishadi R, Heshmat R, Qorbani M, Motlagh ME, Aminaee R, Ardalan G, Taslimi M, Poursafa P, Larijani B. First Report on the Validity of a Continuous Metabolic Syndrome Score as an Indicator for Metabolic Syndrome in a National Sample of Paediatric Population-the CASPIAN-III Study. Endokrynol Pol 2013;64(4):278-284.

Siervo M, Lara J, Chowdhury S, Ashor A, Oggionil C, Mathers JC. Effects of the Dietary Approach to Stop Hypertension (DASH) Diet on Cardiovascular Risk Factors: a Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. Br J Nutr 2015;113:1–15.

Smotkin-Tangorra M, Purushothaman R, Gupta A, Nejati G, Anhalt H, Ten S. Prevalence of Vitamin D Insufficiency in Obese Children and Adolescents. J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab 2007;20:817-823.

Soininen S, Eloranta A-M, Lindi V, Venäläinen T, Zaproudina N, Mahonen A, Lakka TA. Determinants of Serum 25-Hydroxyvitamin D Concentration in Finnish Children: The Physical Activity and Nutrition in Children (PANIC) Study. Br J Nutr 2016;115(6):1080-1091.

Soininen S, Eloranta A-M, Viitasalo A, Dion G, Erkkilä A, Sidoroff V, Lindi V, Mahonen A, Lakka TA. Serum 25-Hydroxyvitamin D, Plasma Lipids, and Associated Gene Variants in Prepubertal Children. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2018;103(7):2670-2679.

Strong JP, Malcom GT, McMahan CA, Tracy RE, Newman WP, Herderick EE, Cornhill JF. Prevalence and Extent of Atherosclerosis in Adolescents and Young Adults: Implications for Prevention from the Pathobiological Determinants of Atherosclerosis in Youth Study. JAMA 1999;281:727-735.

Talmor Y, Golan E, Benchetrit S, Bernheim J, Klein O, Green J, Rashid G. Calcitriol Blunts the Deleterious Impact of Advanced Glycation End Products on Endothelial Cells. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol 2008;294(5):F1059-1064.

Taylor PN, Davies JS. A Review of the Growing Risk of Vitamin D Toxicity from Inappropriate Practice. Br J Clin Pharmacol 2018; 84:1121-1127. Tavakoli F, Namakin K, Zardast M. Vitamin D Supplementation and High-Density Lipoprotein Cholesterol: A Study in Healthy School Children. Iran J Pediatr 2016;26(4):e3311 (p.1-5).

Thomas GN, Hartaigh B, Bosh JA, Pils G, Loerbroks A, Kleber M, Fischer J, Grammer T, Böhm B, März. Vitamin D Levels Predict All-cause and Cardiovascular Disease Mortality in Subjects with the Metabolic Syndrome: the Ludwigshafen Risk and Cardiovascular Health (LURIC) Study. Diabetes Care 2012;35(5):1158-1164.

Tolppanen A-M, Fraser A, Fraser WD, Lawlor DA. Risk Factors for Variation in 25-Hydroxyvitamin  $D_3$  and  $D_2$  Concentrations and Vitamin D Deficiency in Children. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2012;97(4):1202-1210.

Vaara J, Association of physical activity and cardiovascular fitness with cardiovascular risk factors in Young Men. Jyväskylä: University Library of Jyväskylä 2015.

Vaidya A, Forman JP. Vitamin D and Hypertension: Current Evidence and Future Directions. Hypertension 2010;56(5):774-779.

Valtion Ravitsemusneuvottelukunta (Evira). Terveyttä ruoasta. Suomalaiset Ravitsemussuositukset 2014. Juvenes Print –Suomen Yliopistopaino Oy. Tampere 2014. Available at https://www.evira.fi/elintarvikkeet/terveytta-edistava-ruokavalio/ravintoaineet/dvitamiini (site accessed on 3.12.2017).

Verghese PB, Arrese EL, Soulage JL. Stimulation of Lipolysis Enhances the Rate of Cholesterol Efflux to HDL in Adipocytes. Mol Cell Biochem 2007;302:241-248.

Viitasalo A, Laaksonen DE, Lindi V, Eloranta AM, Jääskeläinen J, Tompuri T, Väisänen S, Lakka HM, Lakka TA. Clustering of Metabolic Risk Factors is associated with High-normal Levels of Liver Enzymes among 6- to 8-Year-Old Children: the PANIC Study. Metab Syndr Relat Disord 2012;10:337-343.

Viljakainen HT, Natri A-M, Kärkkäinen M, Huttunen MM, Palssa A, Jakobsen J, KD Cashman, Mølgaard C, Lamberg-Allardt C. A Positive Dose–Response Effect of Vitamin D Supplementation on Site-Specific Bone Mineral Augmentation in Adolescent Girls: A Double-Blinded Randomized Placebo-Controlled 1-Year Intervention. J Bone Miner Res 2006;21(6):838-844.

Virtanen JK, Nurmi T, Voutiainen S, Mursu J, Tuomainen T-P. Association of Serum 25-Hydroxivitamin D with the Risk of Death in a General Older Population in Finland. Eur J Nutr 2011;50:305-312.

Väistö J, Eloranta A-M, Viitasalo A, Tompuri T, Lintu N, Karjalainen P, Lampinen E-K, Ågren J, Laaksonen DE, Lakka H-M, Lindi V, Lakka TA. Physical Activity and Sedentary Behaviour in Relation to Cardiometabolic Risk in Children: Cross-sectional Findings from the Physical Activity and Nutrition in Children (PANIC) Study. Int J Behav Nutr Phy Act 2014;11:55 (p.1-10).

Wacker M, Holick MF, Sunlight and Vitamin D, a Global Perspective for Health. Dermatoendocrinol 2013;5(1):51-108.

Wagner CL, Greer FR and the Section on Breastfeeding and Committee on Nutrition, American Academy of Pediatrics. Prevention of Rickets and Vitamin D Deficiency in Infants, Children, and Adolescents. Pediatrics 2008;122:1142-1152.

Wang TJ, Pencina MJ, Booth SL, Jacques PF, Ingelsson E, Lanier K, Nemjamin EJ, D'Agostino RB, Wolf M, Vasan RS. Vitamin D Deficiency and Risk of Cardiovascular Disease. Circulation 2008;117:503-511.

Wang C, Review article: Role of Vitamin D in Cardiometabolic Diseases. J Diabetes Res 2013;2013:243934 (1-10).

Weber DR, Leonard MB, Zemel BS. Body Composition Analysis in the Pediatric Population. Pediatr Endocrinol Rev 2012;10(1):130-139.

Welch TR, Vitamin D-deficient Rickets: The Reemergence of a Once-conquered Disease. J Pediatr 2000;137(2):143-145.

Whiting SF, Langlois KA, Valanparast H, Greene-Finestone LS. The Vitamin D Status of Canadians Relative to the 2011 Dietary Reference Intakes: An Examination in Children and Adults With and Without Supplement Use. Am J Clin Nutr 2011;94(1):128-135. Williams DM, Fraser A, Sayers A, Fraser WD, Hingorani A, Deanfield J, Smith GD, Sattar N, Lawlor DA. Associations of 25-Hydroxyvitamin D<sub>2</sub> and D<sub>3</sub> with Cardiovascular Risk Factors in Childhood: Cross-Sectional Findings from the Avon Longitudinal Study of Parents and Children. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2012;97:1563-1571.

Wortsman J, Matsuoka LY, Chen TC, Lu Z, Holick MF. Decreased Bioavailability of Vitamin D in Obesity. Am J Clin Nutr 2000;72: 690–693.

Xu WR, Jin HF, Du JB. Vitamin D and Cardiovascular Risk in Children. Chin Med J 2017;130(23): 2857-2862.

Yin K, Agrawal DK, Vitamin D and Inflammatory Diseases. J Inflamm Res 2014;7:69-87.

Zehnder D, Bland R, Williams MC, et al. Extrarenal expression of 25-Hydroxyvitamin D3-1 α-hydroxylase. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2001;86:888–894.

Zemel MB, Shi H, Greer B, Dirienzo D, Zemel PC. Regulation of Adiposity by Dietary Calcium. Faseb 2000;14:1132-1138.

Ziaie H, Razmiou S, Jomhouri R, Jenabi A. Vitamin D Toxicity; Stored and Released from Adipose Tissue? Arch Iran Med 2016;19(8):597-600.

Zou L, Porter TD. Rapid Suppression of 7-dehydrocholesterol Reductase Activity in Keratinocytes by Vitamin D. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 2015;148:64-71.